Deloitte.



2023 Global Life Sciences Outlook Innovating and collaborating for tomorrow

Contents

Overview & Outlook	3
Evolving portfolios and value creation	5
R&D	10
Supply chain again a CEO agenda	17
Pricing and reimbursement	24
Patient centricity	29
Digital transformation	35
Elevating health equity	42
Contacts	50
Learn more	51
Endnotes	52

Overview & Outlook

The underlying growth of the life sciences sector—pharmaceutical, biotech, and medtech—is strong at a combined US\$2.83T.^{1,2,3} While growth has recently remained strong through increased demand and throughout the pandemic response (particularly with COVID-19 vaccines), we are seeing life sciences companies shifting their portfolio strategies with the hope of continuing this growth trajectory by any combination of acquisitions, divestitures of assets deemed not core to growth; investments in R&D and an accelerated embracing of digital; and data technologies which are finally beginning to scale in their adoption. Significant challenges remain though, such as the increasingly competitive market, the changing and evolving regulatory landscape, increasing pricing and reimbursement pressures, and growing demands from patients and health care providers for more effective medications and experiences as they manage health and well-being. All of this also while in the face of broader geopolitical and economic uncertainty.

To maintain their historical and expected growth, life sciences companies are focusing on innovation and collaboration for value creation. They are investing in bringing and expanding platforms like gene and cell therapies, new platforms like mRNA, expanding indications of existing and known biologics platforms, developing novel medicines like antibody drug conjugates (ADCs), and developing novel approaches to make existing medicines even more effective (whether through better diagnostics or exploring different routes of administration). And they increasingly realize they can't do it alone—they are more willing to collaborate with other stakeholders in the health care ecosystem to share knowledge, expertise, and resources.

We anticipate that digital technologies such as artificial intelligence (AI), automation, and blockchain are scaling and creating efficiencies that will lower development and manufacturing costs and accelerate drug research and development efforts.

At the same time, national and local governments around the world are tightening regulations and seeking greater transparency for drug reviews, approvals, pricing, and reimbursement. This pressure is not only on pharmaceutical and biotech manufacturers but also is growing on other stakeholders such as pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) in the US. Life sciences organizations are seeking to comply with these regulations while still meeting patient needs and generating shareholder returns. This requires a deep understanding of the regulatory environment and a commitment to transparency and ethical behavior.

Amid the volatility of the pandemic and geopolitical conflicts affecting shipping and logistics, biotechnology, pharmaceutical and medical device companies see the need to increase flexibility, streamline manufacturing processes, and enhance real-time tracking. As a result, they are shifting away from planning for inflexible accuracy to designing agile supply chains that can flex and adapt quickly to changing conditions—and multiple scenarios. Here we anticipate greater adoption and scaling of digital technologies to enable more flexibility in the supply chain of medicines will be seen in the sector.

Meanwhile, patients and health care providers are demanding more innovative and effective treatments. Patients increasingly want more personalized care that meets their individualized needs allowing them to access information and care at times and locations that fit their schedule. Meeting these demands requires more than just new technologies and processes. It also requires a stronger focus on patient-centricity and an advancement of value-based care.

In this year's outlook, we explore more deeply the seven critical areas we see the life sciences sector investing for change: evolving portfolios and value creation; research and development; supply chain; pricing and reimbursement; patient centricity; digital transformation; and health equity. In some of these areas, we see and anticipate real advancement such as greater and more-scaled adoption of digital technologies in core operations and operational activities across the value chain, or the greater advancement and integration of diagnostics into care delivery. At the same time, in other areas, we acknowledge and anticipate change may grind against the gears of our "new normal"—one where we continue to live and manage COVID-19.

2023 Global Life Sciences Sector Outlook





Evolving portfolios and value creation

The key portfolio decisions that life sciences companies are contemplating today come at a time of contrasts. Big pharma is cash-rich enough to snap up hundreds of small to mid-cap biotech companies.¹ And, access to cash for biotech is compressing. Yet the mega mergers that occurred during the comparatively robust M&A era of the 2010s slowed significantly at the beginning of the current decade. Only recently have acquirers closed a handful of sizable deals, suggesting a potential uptick in M&A value in 2023.²

In this evolving period of competitiveness, life sciences companies are in search of new and compelling sources of value. We see a breadth of models and portfolio choices including the development of "blockbuster" potential medicines, the pursuit of next generation therapies, and a focus on diversification. These choices are being fueled by M&A as companies seek to put their capital to work. Multi-indication pharmaceutical products, which have been approved for more than one use, as among the acquisition targets to watch. There are also signs that life sciences companies will continue to see opportunity for additional streams of revenue through vaccines, excitement about mRNA, and next-generation treatments such as cell and gene therapy.

Furthermore, within this complex picture, with higher interest rates and lower valuations, medtech companies are mitigating uncertainty in the sector by divesting low-growth and low-margin assets. By doing so, medtech companies can free up capital, improving their financial profiles in the hopes of becoming more attractive to strategic acquirers.³

Anticipation of an M&A revival

Life sciences organizations have traditionally relied on M&A to grow or diversify into new technologies and capabilities. From a defensive perspective, M&A have historically served to build resilience. As an offensive strategy, M&A serves to facilitate business transformation, ecosystem value creation, and industry disruption.

Much of this activity slowed in 2022, during the third year of the COVID-19 pandemic, as life sciences transactions surpassing US\$1 billion fell by 60% compared to 2021 (Figure 1). In total numbers, there were 406 deals totaling US\$306 billion in revenue in 2021, while that number declined to 198 deals totaling US\$135 billion in revenue in 2022.⁴

Figure 1. M&A and venture activity in life sciences (2021 and 2022)



Source: M&A Trends in Life Sciences: Deal-making in 2022, Deloitte, 2022

Notwithstanding, pharma companies with substantial cash balances have increasingly appeared ready to unleash pentup demand. In June 2022, Bristol Myers Squibb acquired Turning Point Therapeutics in an all-cash deal focused on the experimental lung cancer candidate Repotrectinib.⁵ In October of that year, Pfizer acquired Biohaven Pharmaceuticals, bringing two new migraine treatments into its portfolio in a transaction valued at around US\$11.6 billion.⁶ The following month, Johnson & Johnson (J&J) acquired heart pump maker Abiomed in a US\$16.6 billion cash transaction. A month later, Amgen picked up rare disease specialist Horizon Therapeutics in a US\$27.8 billion acquisition.⁷

One area of potential interest for acquirers comprises multi-indication pharma products with potential applications across therapy areas. These drugs have the ability to treat several diseases, such as disorders that span immunology, oncology, and metabolic illnesses, but are linked to similar underlying causes—demonstrating how one therapy developed for a particular disease can ultimately alleviate another.⁸ A 2022 study of pricing and value of multi-indication drugs in the United States, Germany, France, England, Canada, Australia, and Scotland, highlights how the drugs have become particularly effective for cancer treatments over the past two decades, with 75% of oncology drugs having been approved for multiple indications by 2018. The drugs can offer efficiency gains through a single cycle of as research and testing.⁹ What's more, investors value the multi-indication treatments because of the potential to provide higher returns compared to single-indication drugs.¹⁰

Prospective acquirers pay a premium for that medicinal versatility, however. A study of 311 acquisitions involving US and EU biopharma companies developing prescription drugs from 2005 to 2020 shows that acquirers paid 37% more for companies with biologics and gene therapeutics, than small-molecule drugs, and paid 12% premium for multi-indication products.¹¹

Researching the path to new revenue

Life sciences executives surveyed by Deloitte appear to be actively preparing for a promising, if turbulent, year ahead in regard to portfolio growth. In a Deloitte US Center for Health Solutions survey of 60 C-suite executives from life sciences companies, 95% of respondents say they intend to focus on the development of innovative products; 91% say they plan to invest in R&D innovation; and 87% say they plan to invest in digital innovation, underscoring the push to adapt portfolios and operations in response to external disruption.¹²

One set of developments that have invigorated pharmaceutical portfolios involve the emergence of mRNA technology. Unlike traditional vaccines, which use weakened or inactivated viruses to elicit an immune response, mRNA vaccines use genetically engineered molecules that teach cells to make a harmless protein, which then triggers the production of antibodies to attack and destroy the protein. What's more, mRNA technology can be quickly designed and scaled as needed.

Many scientists view mRNA technology as the future of medicine. In the United States, the Vaccines National Strategic Plan 2021-2025 lists its primary goal as fostering innovation in vaccine development and related technologies. In 2022, the US pharma and biotechnology company Pfizer announced the first volunteer recipients of its mRNA flu shot in a study involving more than 25,000 US adults. Meanwhile, Moderna announced a late-stage trial of an mRNA-based influenza vaccine. Both trials will seek FDA approval if successful.¹⁴

There were 49 deals signed involving mRNA companies or assets in 2021, with a combined potential value of US\$5.37 billion (Figure 2). One such deal is Sanofi's commitment to investing €400 million (US\$476 million) a year to develop mRNA vaccines against a wide range of infectious diseases. The company's mRNA Center of Excellence will include 400 employees in Cambridge, Massachusetts, and Lyon, France. The teams comprise professionals in R&D, digital, chemistry, manufacturing, and controls, with a goal of having at least six vaccine candidates in the clinic by 2025.¹⁵



Figure 2. Growth in RNA pipeline has doubled since 2017

Notes: Chart includes candidates in development from preclinical through pre-registration. Annual snapshots taken in May.

Source: Pharma Intelligence UK

Pfizer, which used mRNA in its COVID-19 vaccine, has agreed to pay as much as US\$1.3 billion to gene-editing company Beam for the advancement of novel in vivo base editing programs for a range of rare diseases. The programs will use mRNA and LNPs to deliver base editors to target organs. The four-year research alliance will focus on rare genetic diseases of the liver, muscle, and central nervous system.¹⁶

The outlook for mRNA vaccines includes research to develop vaccines against HIV, Zika, and rabies that are currently in the human trial phase.¹⁷ Many of these developments and treatments have largely gone to developed countries, highlighting longstanding inequities in public health. To help combat these disparities in the global south, a South African-based vaccine technology transfer hub comprising universities and pharmaceutical companies is collaborating to make an effective mRNA vaccine against COVID-19, with plans to expand into other diseases such as the measles.¹⁸

Exploring innovations in therapeutics

Research into next-generation therapies, including gene editing, is another area of portfolio expansion for life sciences companies as they look to augment their traditional drug portfolios. As of 2021, there were more than 6,500 active cell and nucleic-acid therapeutic R&D programs, a year-over-year increase of 20%.¹⁹ Trailblazing discoveries such as the Phase 3 trials of the world's first topical gene therapy used to heal decades-old open wounds.²⁰

These scientific advancements have taken a significant leap forward since the discovery of CRISPR/Cas9, which could make the elimination of inherited diseases a reality. In 2020, Regeneron and Intellia Regeneron and Intellia expanded their collaboration expanded their collaboration to develop CRISPR/CAS9-based treatments. By 2025, the regenerative medicine market is predicted to be worth US\$22 billion, growing twofold over the course of a decade.²¹

A number of recent key drug approval are showing promise for new diagnostic and therapeutic technologies. In the United States, the FDA approved Bristol-Myers Squibb's (BMS) BCMA CAR-T cell therapy Abecma in 2021, the first cell therapy approved for multiple myeloma.²²

Figure 3. A typical CGT value chain

Shifting the model from supply chain to a value chain for CGT

Supply chain refers to the integration of all activities involved in the process of sourcing, procurement, conversion, and logistics. On the other hand, value chain is the series of business operations in which utility is added to the goods and services offered by the firm to enhance customer value. Our definition of customers includes treatment sites, patients, and other relevant stakeholders. Figure 3 depicts the typical, made-to-order cell and gene therapies (CGT) value chain.



Source: Cell and gene therapies: Delivering scientific innovation requires operating model innovation," Deloitte Insights, April 17, 2020

However, major challenges persist, notably the exorbitant upfront cost to develop cell and gene therapies, which require bespoke manufacturing processes—to say nothing of the staggering price tags that can make payors hesitant to adopt the experimental therapies. As gene therapies move from ultra-rare applications to other more prevalent disease areas, manufacturing processes also need to scale. This has proven to be a challenge as a lack of manufacturing space and bottlenecks arising from the lack of equipment such as incubators has led to capacity constraints (Figure 3). In addition, CGT companies are still facing shortages of raw materials as a lingering effect of the pandemic.²³ As a result, we have seen pharma companies and contract development and manufacturing organizations (CDMOs) invest heavily to meet demand needs, such as the French contract development and manufacturing organization Yposkesi, which announced plans to build a US\$71 million CGT plant to boost production of the viral vectors used in gene therapy biomanufacturing.²⁴

Life sciences organizations may need to consider alternate funding and payment models to accelerate widespread adoption of their CGTs. For example, Novartis's gene therapy Zolgensma, a one-time treatment for pediatric patients with spinal muscular atrophy, costs more than US\$2 million. To help accelerate adoption and lower the barrier to entry, Novartis is working with payors to develop outcomes-based pacts and pay-over-time options.

Shedding noncore assets

In the current environment, companies are rationalizing their base—carving out assets that don't fit within their overall portfolios or restructuring and rebalancing their portfolios. For instance, in a deal finalized in 2021, Merck created a new drug company, Organon, after spinning off a US\$6.5 billion business to include women's health products and biosimilars. The carve out allowed Merck to not only cut costs by removing manufacturing and sales responsibilities but also focusing on growth areas such as cancer drugs and vaccines.²⁵ In 2022, Novartis announced it was spinning off Sandoz, the company's generics and biosimilars division, into a publicly traded standalone company.

-66

In a news release, the company's chair Joerg Reinhardt said in part that, "A spin-off would allow our shareholders to benefit from the potential future successes of a more focused Novartis and a standalone Sandoz, and would offer differentiated and clear investment theses for the individual businesses.²⁶

Similarly, in 2022, the Austrian biotechnology company APEIRON Biologics announced it would demerge its pre-clinical and clinical development activities to form a new fully separate holding company, invIOs Holding AG (invIOs). The new company would continue to focus on developing novel immuno-oncology treatments for difficult-to-treat cancers, enabling the company to access funding from investors to build its immuno-oncology pipeline.²⁷

Also in 2022, Danaher Corporation, the global science and technology company, spun off its Environmental & Applied Solutions (EAS) segment to create an independent, publicly traded company. This follows significant growth in the company's diagnostics and life sciences area, thanks to tailwinds from the pandemic, whereas the EAS had been the company's weakest.²⁸

Economic conditions make many of the deals more attractive. Though debt is more expensive because of rising interest rates, valuations slipped during the first three quarters of 2022. In addition, 11 mega-blockbuster medicines with sales exceeding US\$5 billion per year are set to lose global patent protection over the coming decade, setting up fierce competition through the manufacturing of generic products.²⁹

"When it doesn't make sense in the portfolio, you move it out," says Keith Boettiger, President, Abbott Heart Failure. "You look at the landscape, how it fits into your long-term strategy, and ultimately you make hard decisions.

Value creation considerations for life sciences organizations

- How are you filling your growth gaps?
- Where can you seek adjacencies to bolt on technologies you don't currently possess?
- How are you balancing diversity in development of a portfolio with focus in a given platform or therapeutic area and how can you avoid becoming too fragmented or too focused?
- How can multi-indication products enhance your portfolio?
- How do next-generation therapeutics fit into your portfolio?



R&D

Innovation is fundamental to the global life sciences sector, even as pricing pressures, growing market share for generic drugs, and looming patent expirations remain significant challenges. In the coming year, life sciences companies will continue to build on advances such as translational medicine, big data analytics, and digital innovations in research and development. In addition, other advanced technologies will emerge to improve research and development (R&D) efficiencies, boost long-term returns, and enhance the patient outcomes and experiences.

R&D innovation is one of the top actions that 91% of life sciences organizations plan to invest in more heavily during 2023, according to a Deloitte survey of 60 senior life sciences executives from biopharmaceutical and medical device manufacturers with revenue of more than US\$500 million.¹

Almost half (48%) of the executives in the same survey said they are cautiously optimistic about the sector's outlook in the coming year. R&D investments in composition, drug pipelines, clinical trials, and processes for regulatory approval of new assets will play a critical role in the industry's success, but the financial challenges on achieving a return are significant. Deloitte's analysis of the top 20 pharma companies found that:

- Internal rates of return (IRR) for late-stage assets fell to 1.2% from 6.8% a year earlier. Indeed, IRRs have resumed a downward trend that began in 2014, slipping below the 1.5 rate achieved in 2019. (Figure 1)
- R&D spending among the 20 biggest companies fell to US\$139 billion in 2022 from US\$141 billion in 2021 (though it remains higher than it was in 2020).
- Average asset development costs increased in 2022 by US\$298 million, to US\$2.28 billion, compared with a year earlier. This increase was largely because of increased clinical cycle times, which were compressed during the pandemic.
- The average forecast peak sales per pipeline asset fell to US\$389 million from US\$500 million in 2021 because of the successful commercialization of high-value assets.²





Source: Deloitte analysis, 2022.

Please note: 2013-2019 data includes the 15 companies of the combined cohort; 2020-2022 data includes the results of the top 20 companies by 2019 R&D spend. See appendix 1 for the data of each cohort. Compared to last year's report 2020 and 2021 figures have been restated to include the top 20 companies by R&D spend as of 2020.

Life sciences R&D organizations are under increasing pressure to generate sustainable returns on investment given shifts in the market, regulation, and reimbursement practices. While the industry has recently produced groundbreaking innovation such as mRNA vaccines and platform technology, which have the potential to truly transform global health, scaling the impact will require reinventing and realigning traditional R&D models.

Real-world evidence (RWE), new approaches to clinical trials and partnerships, and artificial intelligence (AI) have the potential to transform R&D—from drug discovery and development to regulatory approval.

The growing benefits of RWE

RWE refers to clinical findings about the use and potential benefits or risks of medical products based on analysis of data such as patients' health status or the delivery of care. RWE helps life sciences organizations better understand disease progression, monitor patient safety, and assess clinical and cost effectiveness. RWE also can help organizations adjust instructions for how medications may be used, administered, or labeled.³

During the COVID-19 pandemic, RWE enabled the sector to innovate faster by understanding the incidence and severity of the virus and its variants for vaccine and drug development. RWE helped vaccine developers predict global hotspots, collect better data from diverse racial and ethnic groups, and understand vaccine effectiveness across age, gender, race, and ethnicity to determine the need for boosters.

Increasingly, RWE is playing an expanded role in R&D in helping life sciences organizations design clinical trials, understand the heterogeneity of treatment effects, and inform price and forecasting assumptions.

Though life sciences organizations lagged other sectors in adopting RWE, it now is a growing part of the decision-making process. Companies are getting faster at collecting and analyzing RWE. Ninety percent of the biopharma executives surveyed by the Deloitte US Center for Health Solutions said their organizations are using RWE to speed product life cycles and design synthetic control arms and adaptive trials. These processes are expected to increase in the next two to three years.⁴

Regulatory agencies are accepting the use of RWE in submissions. Over the past two years, the US Food & Drug Administration (FDA) has released guidelines on its use for claims, electronic health records, and registry data in submissions.⁵ As part of its RWE strategy, the FDA is working on projects exploring the role RWE could play in regulatory decision-making.⁶

For example, Eli Lilly collaborated with Flatiron Health to fill evidence gaps in its FDA submission for a new dosing regimen of cetuximab, which treats metastatic colorectal cancer (CRC). Analysis of real-world data from Flatiron Health's database found no significant differences in the survival of CRC patients receiving weekly or biweekly doses of cetuximab. The findings were critical to the FDA's approval of biweekly doses of cetuximab, and infusions can now be scheduled alongside other biweekly treatments, reducing patient visits to infusion centers.⁷

The European Medicines Agency (EMA) and the National Medical Products Association in China also are attempting to expand RWE use to expedite patient access to innovative therapies.⁸

With new regulatory pathways for real-world data, advanced information management and analytics, technologies can enable R&D organizations to access, analyze, and meaningfully act on RWE to advance drug discovery.

Reshaping clinical trials

Clinical trials remain vital to life sciences' R&D, but the lengthy process of discrete and fixed phases in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) has changed little in recent decades and was designed principally for testing mass-market drugs (Figure 2).





Source: Deloitte analysis.

As of September 2022, more than 16,000 clinical trial studies were underway, and non-COVID study starts through August were on pace to top 5,500, a 17% increase from the 4,700 starts in 2021.⁹

The need for large numbers of studies, however, are hampered by difficulty finding subjects to enroll, and the time it takes to complete them: The average trial time for Phase 3 trials in 2022 was 3.5 years, up slightly from 3.4 years in 2021.¹⁰

The pandemic taught the sector that technology can be used to collect and monitor patient data more quickly. Dublin-based ICON ran a COVID trial in Argentina with 5,000 subjects. Monitoring the data onsite would have been too time-consuming, so the company monitored the data from Japan to ensure it was being collected properly. "That is the sort of technology [that] can now become part of trials in the future," CEO Steve Cutler said.¹¹

It's also important to note that despite slow changes in the trial process, the pandemic accelerated the use of virtual trials, wearables and RWE, and we expect this trend to continue, leading to more widespread adoption.

Digital trials

Trials are being conducted at sites that are more convenient for patients, rather than at centralized testing facilities. Data is gathered remotely through wearables, mobile engagement apps, and medication management. For example, Curebase, a US clinical research firm, conducts decentralized clinical trials without a traditional testing site. Data is collected through wearables, home visits, telemedicine, and reminders sent by apps.¹²

Meanwhile, companies such as Novotech and Obviohealth are working to develop decentralized clinical trials in the Asia-Pacific region, which accounts for more than 60% of the global population and represents the fastest-growing market for pharmaceutical sales.¹³

These remote testing capabilities not only increase the amount of data collected, but they also can give manufacturers greater insight into patient safety by identifying risks. While standards are needed for data collection, analysis, and collaboration, the data gathered could provide better understanding of disease and a broader view of the patient experience before, during, and after dosing.¹⁴

Trial simulation

Digital technology can conduct trials via computer simulations and use analytics to verify trial feasibility. These digital studies can simulate organ response to drugs, employ AI to optimize dosing, and predict disease progression.

Paris-based Ariana Pharma, for example, designs and executes precision medicine clinical trials using AI. The company integrates pre-clinical, clinical, and RWE data, then uses that information to select patients for trials, determine best dosages and even suggest alternative clinical indications.¹⁵

Trial simulation can help identify clinical outcomes in the discovery or development phase, long before any human trials. Life sciences organizations are adopting modeling and simulation to understand the complexity of human physiology and predict human response to therapies. One key area for growth is addressing relapses from drug resistance in diseases such as cancer, tuberculosis, and other bacterial infections.¹⁶

As a result, the biosimulation market, which was US\$3.17 billion in 2021, is expected to grow at an annual rate of 15%, reaching US\$6.13 billion by 2026.¹⁷

Retail clinics

Some 80% of clinical trials are delayed because of recruitment issues, and about one-third of patients who sign up drop out before a trial is completed. Most clinical trials are conducted in academic medical centers, which may require a patient to travel as much as two hours each way. One solution: bring the trials closer to the patients, most of whom live within 10 or 15 minutes

of a pharmacy or grocery store with clinics that often are open at nights or on weekends. Retail outlets are not suitable for all types of clinical trials, but they are well-suited for drugs to treat skin cancer, diabetes, asthma, or hypertension. The use of retail locations – such as pharmacies, grocery stores or urgent care facilities — could expand the number of trial sites and improve patient access. Using retail locations may also address health equity issues by attracting more racially, ethnically, and economically diverse participants.¹⁸

For example, the health division of the US grocery store chain Kroger established a clinical trial site in partnership with pharmaceutical companies, research organizations and health systems. The first trial began at a Kroger pharmacy in Toledo, Ohio, in early 2023 and enrolled an initial cohort of 55 people in a study to identify microbiome-based biomarkers indicative of colorectal cancer.¹⁹

Intelligent trials

Using real-world data, predictive AI algorithms can accelerate the understanding of diseases, identify suitable patients, assist in site selection, and support novel study designs. The algorithms also collect and analyze clinical data more quickly and from more inputs while also reducing the potential for human error. AI can also improve patient monitoring, medication adherence and retention.

AI-powered simulations and computer modeling with advance the development and regulatory evaluation of new drugs, while reducing the time and costs of clinical trial cycles and improving patient safety.²⁰

Al's growing role in drug development

Al has the potential to transform drug discovery by extracting concepts and relationships from data. It also can cross-reference published scientific literature with alternative information sources, such as clinical trials information, conference abstracts, public data, and unpublished datasets. By mining such information, Al applications in drug discovery have already delivered new candidate medicines, in some cases in months rather than years.²¹

Whiz.Al, a US startup, uses Al to provide data insights gleaned from patient history, remote patient monitoring, and results of previous trials. Life sciences organizations can use the information to expedite R&D and time to market, while also more accurately forecasting development costs.²²

Al's ability to crunch large amounts of data allows it to rapidly identify drug targets, such as molecules and proteins associated with specific diseases, that can be made into medicine. Biotech companies such as Exscientia, Evotec, and Insilico Medicine have announced clinical trials for drugs developed with Al, and Verge Genomics, a US biotech, recently started clinical trials of novel therapy for ALS that it developed using Al to analyze brain tissue databases.²³



Data science has now closed the gap with chemistry, biology and physics and really driving innovation in the pharmaceutical industry," said Frank Nestle, global head of research and chief scientific officer for Paris-based Sanofi. "The predictive models, what we call AI, will give us novel hypotheses, and those novel hypothesis will speed up drug discovery, make it more affordable, and cheaper and also get us better quality medicines.²⁴ As the number of compounds identified using AI increases, drugs capable of treating specific pathologies will become available. By 2030, more drug discovery will be done using AI-controlled simulations in collaboration with academia. The time from screening to preclinical testing will be reduced to a few months and new potential drug candidates identified at increasingly lower costs.²⁵

Collaboration and shared services

Prior to the pandemic, developing, testing, and releasing a new vaccine, therapy, or medical device in less than 10 years was almost unheard of. Today, companies, shareholders, and consumers all want faster cycles, but they can't do it alone. Long drug and device development times can add significant human, health, and economic costs to R&D efforts. By working to reduce those times through international interagency collaboration, regulators could help mitigate those costs.

During the past two years, regulators globally have been working more closely together than ever. While many regulatory bodies were involved in working groups prior to COVID-19, the pandemic accelerated those relationships, which are likely to continue in the years to come.

Regulators also stepped up information sharing with private companies. These collaborations focus on creating clusters of technical experts, sharing research results, leveraging inspection reports, and disseminating information. Regulators also showed they were willing to relax certain requirements, lower barriers to entry, and accelerate approval processes for new products to facilitate faster and more comprehensive responses from both the public and private sectors.²⁶

This newfound sense of collaboration is particularly important in Europe, where biopharma products must receive regulatory approval from the EMA, and the UK's Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA). The EU recently changed regulations for clinical trials and medical devices, for example, and cross-border collaborations remain challenging.²⁷

Collaboration also has increased within the industry. Biopharma companies and medtech manufacturers are sharing information in ways they never have. In March 2020, after COVID-19 was declared a pandemic, companies such as Eli Lilly, Novartis, Gilead, and AstraZeneca formed a research group that shared knowledge and resources to accelerate development of vaccines and treatments.²⁸

And life sciences organizations are turning to external providers for services such as robotic cloud labs, or lab-as-a-service (LaaS). In these labs, companies provide proprietary hardware, single-platform software, and services that allow automated research to be done remotely. Researchers log in to a dashboard, specify the experiments they want to run, and configure the equipment remotely. The labs can run experiments around the clock, greatly reducing the time it takes to develop new drugs.^{29,30}

Life sciences organizations are increasingly seeking to augment their drug development pipelines through collaborations and scientific partnerships. A Deloitte survey of 15 life sciences companies found that they relied on external sources for innovation for more than 50% of late-stage revenue.³¹

Ipsen CEO David Loew said French biopharma company has almost stopped doing internal research. "We have only very little internal research left, and we partner now on the three years before entry into human space ... with biotechs or with universities," he said.³²

The post-COVID outlook

The response to the COVID-19 pandemic has created new opportunities for innovation in the life sciences sector (Figure 3). In the coming years, it should continue to explore and embrace these new approaches, such as identifying programs with a high probability of success and ensuring they progress seamlessly from one phase of development to the next.

Figure 3. Incorporate the lessons from the R&D approaches adopted for COVID-19 into routine clinical development



Source: Deloitte analysis.

Other benefits from the pandemic response include expanding dialogue with regulators to accelerate development of urgently needed therapies, streamline trial protocols to avoid deviations, speed development time and strive for greater diversity in clinical trials to ensure subjects match the prevalence of diseases across racial and ethnic groups.³³

COVID-19 has highlighted the vulnerability of R&D to the traditional, site-based clinical trial system. Deloitte surveyed R&D and commercial leaders at both large and small biopharma companies, most of whom said they expect the shift to decentralized, patient-centric trials to continue for the long term. They also anticipate more reliance on innovation and both real-time and remote monitoring tools and diagnostics. Organizations also may develop extensive data and intelligent workflow to support improved decision-making.³⁴

Organizations that can continue to capitalize on the momentum gained by accelerating digital transformation programs, strategic shifts, and commercial reorganization before or during the pandemic, will be well-positioned to benefit from the more agile post-COVID market in 2023.

R&D considerations for life sciences organizations

To drive a more productive future for R&D, with more equitable and quicker access to new therapies, life sciences leaders should ask themselves these key questions:

- Is our R&D capital allocation sufficiently balanced to foster sustainable pipeline flow?
- Are we investing enough in the new capabilities and way of working that will transform our ability to execute the pipeline?
- Are we making the most informed project-level investment decisions given the shifting scientific, commercial, and reimbursement landscape?
- Can we unlock the power of data sharing? How can we build on emerging knowledge, reduce duplication of research efforts, and curate data in the cloud that be accessed by our organizations and our partners?
- Can we create a digital talent pool with the skills to expand the use of data-driven approaches? How do we rethink our talent strategies to leverage alliances for accessing talent? How do we best invest in retraining the talent pool we already have? Can we incorporate patient centricity to improve health equity and develop more comprehensive clinical trials that better assess the impact of our products for all races and ethnicities?
- How can we meet society's expectations about equity of access to experimental and approved therapies?



Supply chain again a CEO agenda

Global life sciences companies are trying new approaches to respond to hidden risks within supply chains.

Supply chain management has long relied on static assumptions. In this deterministic view, organizations create forecasts using historical data to design specific scenarios likely to result from familiar circumstances. For enterprises using an array of suppliers for a particular product, the deterministic view dictates that the business can absorb a shock if one of its suppliers abruptly halts production – with the understanding that another provider can take up the slack. When unanticipated emergencies arises, such as a massive breakdown of supply and distribution channels, having a range of suppliers might not be enough to overcome the disruption.

Amid the volatility of the pandemic, geopolitical unrest affecting shipping and logistics, and inflation at a four-decade high, an alternate view on supply chains is emerging in the global life sciences industry. This model, known as the probabilistic approach, aims to increase flexibility, streamline manufacturing processes, and enhance real-time tracking. Within this framework, biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies are shifting away from planning for inflexible accuracy to designing agile supply chains that can bend and adapt quickly to changing conditions – and multiple scenarios.

This complex picture includes a rapidly diversifying portfolio of next-generation treatments such as personalized cell and gene therapies that require specialized manufacturing facilities, ultra-low temperature requirements, and last-mile delivery to treatment centers and patients. To keep pace with such changes, leaders at life sciences companies are prioritizing advanced digital processes such as artificial intelligence within production systems.

Accordingly, supply chain concerns have moved to the top of the CEO agenda: A Fortune/Deloitte survey reveals that the majority of life science and healthcare chief executives say supply chain disruptions have raised the cost of doing business and cut into margins. A total of 88% of respondents cited production or logistics issues, and reduced logistics capacity, as key challenges. What's more, the CEOs predicted continuing challenges will disrupt business strategy during the next 12 months (Figure 1).¹

Figure 1. Have you experienced any of the following disruptions to your overall supply chain in the last 12 months?



Source: "The Semiconductor Chip Stortage Hits MedTech: Strategies to built resilient Supply Chains, " Advamed Deloitte, 2021

To better understand vulnerabilities in their supply chains, life sciences companies are exploring an array of practices to enable proactive scenario planning and risk mitigation. Among the emerging and transformative trends include the acceleration of digital investments, the deployment of human-centered and AI-enabled digital automation, trust-based supply chain systems that are responsive and agile to changing stimuli in the business environment, the embedding of sustainability into supply chains, and the expansion of connected networks to reinforce system-wide supply chain cohesiveness.

Enabling end-to-end visibility

Enhanced visibility into suppliers and investments in digital sensing capabilities helps life sciences companies avoid costly missteps.

Today's supply chain professionals potentially have access to thousands of suppliers—each with their own supply chains, corresponding digital platforms, and risk management approach within this second tier of suppliers. For life sciences companies, one barrier to adoption of a high connected, agile supply network is a lack of visibility into participants beyond the first tier.

Some of this may occur by design, as suppliers withhold information about their own vendors because of contractual restrictions.² Life sciences companies also risk becoming beholden to a single provider. For example, one major global biotechnology company has pinpointed the risks of having a sole provider for products used in conducting clinical trials. If this supplier suffered a shutdown, it would jeopardize the biopharma company's innovation activities.

Prioritizing digital governance is one way life sciences companies are attempting to avoid such delays. For example, smart sensors can provide timely feedback on operations and help companies react to supply chain bottlenecks and disruptions. The devices include onboard technologies such as microprocessors, diagnostics, and connectivity tools.³ The sensors, which can be leased to companies through a software-as-a-service (SaaS) model, allow global medical technology companies for example, to rapidly flag a downtime event that threatens timely manufacturing and distribution. Thanks to the alert from the sensing technology, companies can initiate advance purchases of supplies, and benefit in savings off typical rates by getting ahead of the production delay.

Sanofi, a French pharmaceutical and health care company, has launched an initiative to digitize its supply chain and related processes. Its Digital Accelerator effort develops products using digital, data, and Al—further proof that life sciences companies are accelerating data management strategies to integrate, unify, and standardize data from different sources.⁴

-66

"You generate so much data, but you have to bring the capability to transform that data into something that's useful," says Roberto Silveira, Senior Vice President, Global Technology and Engineering at Pfizer. "The path forward is not even predictive, it's adaptive. It's transforming data and using AI and machine learning to make data control your process. That's the ultimate vision."⁵

Converting data intelligence into actionable insights is how Amgen, another biopharmaceutical company, is using technology to enhance collaboration among suppliers. The organization is sharing demand signals, adding visibility and production status to function as an in-house aggregator of supply chain information, improving the understanding of risks across its value chain. Specifically, the company has implemented high-grade product barcoding and tracking devices for greater monitoring throughout the cold chain journey, allowing for the shipping of biosimilars, which are copies of patent-expired biologic drugs.⁶

Additional supply chain challenges such as increasing cost pressures, evolving requirements for advanced therapies, and the increasing reliance on external partners in the clinical development process, offer areas of innovation that life sciences companies can address with the application of digital twins.⁷ A digital twin is a virtual model of a physical process, allowing companies to simulate conditions, contemplate what-if scenarios, and create instructions to manipulate the physical world.⁸

A potential use of digital twins among biopharma companies is the simulation of clinical trials to include budgets, patient selection, and probability of success.⁹ Digital twins can form part of a strong digital core housing relevant data allows life sciences companies to create a supply chain that can efficiently assess the current state—and make informed decisions during clinical trial execution.¹⁰

Still, the technology still ranks relatively low among planned investments for life sciences companies, a signal that many are still in the pilot phase when it comes to connectivity within the manufacturing ecosystem (Figure 2).¹¹

Figure 2. Manufacturing: Current and planned investments in digital technologies Respondents were asked to rank the most innovative technologies in which their function is currently investing and plans to invest in the next five years.

Current investment priorities Investment priorities over the next 5 years



Note: Percentages indicate options ranked among the top 3 by survey respondents. Source: Deloitte's Biopharma Digital Innovation Survey 2021.

Human-centered design: Boosting success on the production floor

Life sciences companies that focus on high-value, relationship-driven investments in their people create more resilient supply chains.

Even with accelerating investments in digital capabilities, managing a supply chain is a human-driven endeavor. When Deloitte interviewed more than 50 supply chain leaders including life sciences companies, academic institutions, and technology companies, interviewees overwhelmingly cited people accepting and adopting the new ways of working — more than digital investments — as a key factor to boost supply chain resilience.¹²

One of the key threats to resilience is difficulty of talent retention, an issue that predates the pandemic: In a 2018 survey by global shipping company DHL¹³ on the supply chain profession, 70% of respondents said that the profession lacked status and opportunities for career growth. Research in 2022 by the recruitment firm Hays shows that 59% of UK professionals working in supply chain and logistics said they planned to switch jobs within a year, while 77% of US respondents said they planned to quit.¹⁴

These headwinds make it more critical for life sciences companies to enhance the value proposition for current workers and potential ones. As a complement to digital investments, some life sciences companies are making their operations more people-centric, empowering real-time decision making, and enhancing value chain efficiency. To meet these goals, biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are emphasizing human-centered design.

As a matter of quality control, life sciences organizations have had continuous improvement programs in place for some time to increase efficiency. But newer dimensions of human-centered design help companies rethink how the work gets done – from deciding how to digitize one step in a process or unit operation to pinpointing the precision output or outcome of a step in the supply chain.

Overcoming unplanned deviations can achieve these goals - while increasing trust in the supply chain. Companies that adopt this approach are attempting to flag common human errors – or identify when a similar error occurs in isolation across multiple sites. A review of deviations from standard production procedures aims to spot a deviation, determine how it happened, and develop action to prevent it from occurring again at any location.

Likewise, life sciences companies are taking smaller successes to scale. One leading biopharma manufacturer conducted digital immersion sessions, assessed its existing capabilities, and quantified the benefits of expanding two pilot sites into a companywide smart factory approach. The company projected approximately US\$50 million in year-over-year operational expense reductions on a US\$700 million baseline.

"

The US pharmaceutical company Eli LIIIy and Company has five manufacturing plants under construction endowed with highly automated systems that learn and self-tune throughout the production processes, offering automatic notifications to technical support, says John Neal, associate vice president, manfacturing strategy. The company hired 1,800 people for its manufacturing operations in 2022 with a digital-first focus governing the recruitment process.

Neal says the smart factories approach demonstrates how life sciences companies are taking an end-to-end approach to embed next-generation technology in different parts of their supply chains.

"Utilizing the latest manufacturing technology throughout the supply chain enables Lilly to impact more patients at speed," Neal says. "We use that sentiment as our north star for recruiting, hiring and educating our workforce to ensure we're meeting the needs of patients who rely on our medicines."¹⁵

Sustainability: The long-term view

Circularity is becoming a prerequisite for supply chain design among life sciences companies.

The global supply chain network of life sciences companies includes the R&D facilities, manufacturing plants, and transportation channels that eventually help products reach patients and consumers. To put this massive network into perspective, consider that the estimated market for pharmaceutical drug delivery is expected to grow from US\$1.17 trillion in 2022 to US\$1.45 trillion by 2028, representing a compound annual growth rate of 3.6% during the forecast period.¹⁶

Leaders at life sciences companies are actively discussing how to move growing quantities of goods while maintaining supplychain sustainability over the long-term. There is broad industry consciousness on the issue as seen through the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi), which seeks to limit global warming through corporate commitments. As of February 2023, 88 pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and life sciences companies had submitted targets.¹⁷

To fulfill such commitments, life sciences companies are embedding sustainability as a supply chain advantage. They're starting by focusing on Scope 3 emissions – those that result from activities or assets not owned or controlled by the organization, such as waste, end-of-life treatment of sold products, or business travel.¹⁸ Transportation and distribution, which also fall under Scope 3, are driving some life sciences companies to consider shifting from air freight to ocean travel. An MIT study found that based on emissions generated by moving one ton of goods per mile, long-haul air freight generates 47 times as many emissions per ton-mile as ocean freight.¹⁹ What's more, Life Sciences companies are building in sustainable supply chain material, network and manufacturing choices earlier in the development process so that the impact is measurable by the time pipeline reaches commercial manufacturing and distribution.

Merck, the global pharmaceutical company, is attempting to move 90% of health care shipments from air transport into ocean freight to reduce carbon emissions. Between 2019 and 2020, switching from air to sea freight helped the company to reduce CO² emissions by 5,000 metric tons.²⁰

AstraZeneca also incorporates sustainability as a key component of their supply chain. The company is reducing its water footprint and total waste by leveraging a circular economy approach and implementing lean manufacturing techniques, such as limiting freshwater use for drug development to sources within site boundaries whenever possible.²¹ As part of the company's Sustainability Partner Guide and Framework, it assigns sustainability assessment scores to suppliers that meet certain thresholds such as the use of renewable energies such as biomass, solar, or wind across global operations.²²

-66

"We're taking bold action on climate because there's a strong connection between a healthy planet and healthy people", says Arun Krishnan, Global Supply Chain Planning, AstraZeneca.²³

Industry-wide efforts are also underway to improve supply-chain transparency. The Pharmaceutical Supply Chain Initiative (PSCI) is a global coalition of more than 45 pharmaceutical and health care companies focused on safety, environmental, and social outcomes across supply chains. Meanwhile, the Energize collaboration of global pharmaceutical companies seeks to boost renewable energy access for hundreds of pharmaceutical suppliers – equipping the companies with expertise and resources to vie for electricity purchase power agreements.²⁴

The push for sustainability is also driving life sciences organizations to avoid inventory imbalances when available supply doesn't match demand. Some inventory management applications rely on "base stock" policies in which inventory of a certain product triggers an order – potentially creating excess inventory if demand drops after an order is processed.²⁵

When demand is uncertain, companies can consider a replenishment model in which products are made to stock and manufacturers check inventory levels of finished goods on a continuous basis, schedule production to prevent shortages, and keep raw materials on hand as needed.²⁶ This type of strategic inventory process allows life sciences organizations to ensure the supply of their critical medicines while also avoiding excess inventory.²⁷

Geopolitical security

Geopolitical conflicts are necessitating vast new security capabilities among global life sciences companies.

Achieving supply chain resilience in the face of complex global disruptions is a far greater challenge than solving for economics or logistics. The existence of geopolitical threats such as trade wars, cyber risk, and inflation have made supply chains more interdependent and critical to national security.²⁸

In response, some life sciences companies are using blockchain – a digitally distributed, decentralized, public ledger system – for anti-counterfeiting, genomic, and clinical data sharing, revenue management, and materials transfer. For instance, Novartis and Merck are exploring blockchain to improve supply chain security and improve communication by ensuring that patients receive more accurate, up-to-date information by supplanting the paper inserts with digital ledgers.²⁹

Promoting supply chain visibility, industry partnerships, and distribution agility across national and regional markets is another key goal of life sciences companies. Consider that approvals of one medicine in a particular market may encounter regulatory challenges in another. Multiple countries are expected to phase in requirements for pharmaceutical barcoding, serialization, and reporting through 2025.³⁰ By inserting these new requirements into the supply chain in the present, life sciences companies can increase compliance and efficiency over the long term.

Supply chain considerations for life sciences organizations

- How are you capturing changes in demand, delivery, and consumption across your supply chain?
- What upgrades can you make in the short term to realize immediate value?
- How have you incorporated principle of trust in supply chain systems?
- How are you balancing human and machine inputs in your digital supply chain systems?
- What are the biggest training gaps that are holding back your team?
- How can you institute more circular practices within the supply chain starting from product development stages?
- Are you deploying effective strategies in order to integrate, unify, and standardize data from different sources?
- Is your talent strategy flexible enough to keep up with rapidly changing needs?
- Where can you easily scale supply chain innovation for system-wide impact?
- How would you grade your supply chain governance strategy?



Pricing and reimbursement

Historic global shifts in drug pricing and pharmaceutical reimbursement policies are colliding with intensifying competition to boost market access in the race to produce innovative therapies. Life sciences companies are responding to these commercial pressures through dynamic pricing techniques in which prices fluctuate based on real-time data such as customer demand; robust data analysis of market data to identify trends related to reimbursement and coverage decisions; and portfolio management approaches that account for a growing number of specialized treatments for a range of ailments.¹

In the US, life sciences leaders are developing new commercial strategies to address the pricing impact from the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), which includes provisions aimed at lowering out-of-pocket costs for patients. These maneuvers are arising as pharmacy benefits managers anticipate a surge of biosimilar drugs that are expected to hit the market, offering an opportunity to lower drug prices through 2024 and beyond.²

At the same time, pharmaceutical companies worldwide are reconfiguring their commercial teams to better understand niche diseases such as genetic disorders through hyper-targeting of patient populations. These developments are reshaping tactics in the life science sector as companies reposition pricing in an increasingly competitive landscape.

Across non-US markets there's also a recognition of the increasing pressure on pricing and equitable access to treatments. The Access to Medicines Foundation, a non-profit that monitors the pharma sector's progress in addressing access to health care in more than 100 low- and middle-income countries, is tracking increased global awareness and demand for addressing inequities in health care, such as a need for greater regulatory harmonization in Sub-Saharan Africa.

"

"There's definitely more awareness among different stakeholders on the issues of global inequity," Jayasree K. Iyer, CEO of the Access to Medicines Foundation. "Products are available, but they're not available for people who really need them in resource-limited settings. So, awareness has definitely crept into the industry, investors, and governments to better demand leadership from companies."³

Confronting pricing uncertainties

One of the most significant pricing changes came under the IRA in the United States, which for the first time empowers Medicare, the US national health insurance program, to negotiate drug prices and compels drug makers to pay inflationary rebates. The number of drugs it can negotiate is limited, but the impact could be outsized as the IRA allows Medicare to negotiate prices of some of the most expensive drugs. The IRA will also cap Medicare patients' out-of-pocket expenses to about US\$2,000 a year. It's the most consequential legislation addressing drug costs since the passage of the Medicare Modernization Act in 2003, which established the original drug benefit.⁵

The IRA, as written, will cap Medicare Part D out-of-pocket drug costs for beneficiaries at US\$2,000 by 2025. Life sciences companies can negotiate drug prices through the end of the decade, but the law will have specific implications for high-cost medications. Drug makers will need to assess the financial impact, conduct negotiations with the US Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), and adjust agreements with customers. According to the current changes, the law empowers Medicare to negotiate prices for 10 drugs in 2026, which may increase to 60 by 2029.

We anticipate the sector will consider arguing that the government acted beyond its statutory authority. Another: Claiming that the IRA runs afoul of the US Constitution's Eighth Amendment, which protects against excessive fines. One provision in the IRA allows the government to levy an excise tax of up to 95% on drug companies that don't comply with price negotiations.⁶

For now, the sector is confronting lower prescription costs for Medicare patients as drug pricing provisions take effect in 2023.⁷ Among the drugs that could be affected are the anticoagulant Eliquis, manufactured by Bristol-Myers Squibb and Pfizer; Eli Lilly's diabetes medicines Trulicity and Jardiance; and the cancer medicine Imbruvica from AbbVie and Johnson & Johnson.⁸ In 2020, Medicare spending on these four medicines totaled US\$18.6 billion across more than 3.7 million beneficiaries.⁹

Drugs without a single source and competing products that are approved and marketed will not be eligible for negotiation. Small-molecule and biologic drugs derived from living sources are exempt from negotiation until they have been on the market for nine years and 13 years, respectively, which could limit the law's incremental impact on drug sales.¹⁰ These drugs will be excluded from negotiation until generics and biosimilars are available.

66

Richard Saynor, CEO of Sandoz, the Swiss pharmaceutical company said, "True innovation is about giving people access to high quality generics and biosimilar-originated products in a fair and transparent way."¹¹



Promoting flexible pricing approaches

As a result of the IRA drug pricing provisions, Medicare may broaden its acceptance of value-based pricing, which some health providers already offer. For instance, Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs) are groups of doctors, hospitals, and other providers that deliver coordinated high-quality care to Medicare patients. These organizations treat almost 20% of Medicare Advantage and about one-third of traditional Medicare patients.¹²

Adopting similar pricing for prescription drugs, however, would require an independent assessment of clinical value that would determine payment, rather than current models that define payment by the manufacturer's list price.^{13,14}

Many companies have called the IRA reforms an attack on innovation. AstraZeneca CEO Pascal Soriot warned that the negotiation requirements could inhibit patent protections under which pharmaceutical companies can recoup drug development investments over a decade. Soriot has also called the law an "imposition of price" rather than a negotiation.¹⁵ Eli Lilly attributed its decision to stop development of a US\$40 million cancer drug to the IRA.¹⁶

Despite these concerns, companies such as the Swiss pharmaceutical firm Novartis have said they will continue to invest in the US, the world's biggest pharmaceutical market.¹⁷

Tailoring pricing and reimbursement to regional markets

Creating policies on drug pricing and reimbursement depends on factors such as health records, competition, and profit margins.^{18,19} For instance, a study of almost 60 Dutch health care decision makers found they were less likely to reimburse products with higher margins, with 61% of respondents saying profit margins should play a role in reimbursement decision making.²⁰

To more accurately assess health care costs and benefits, markets such as the European Union (EU), the UK, and Australia use health technology assessment (HTAs). The tools provide recommendations on medicines and other health technologies that can be financed or reimbursed by members. HTAs consider a drug's initial price, target population, and clinical effectiveness in determining its value.²¹

Beginning in 2025, the EU will require that pharmaceutical manufacturers align their clinical development programs with HTA requirements to improve clinical value, pricing, and reimbursement.²²

In the nearer term, the European Commission is actively discussing plans to bring medicines to patients underserved parts of the EU by trimming two years from exclusivity agreements. The EU legislation would allow pharma companies to earn back one or both years of the protection if they agree to launch the medicine in all areas of the political bloc – with significant implications for price negotiations for companies that wish to delay the entry of generic competitors to the market.²³

To prepare for these new pricing rules, life sciences companies are incorporating pricing and market access decisions more consistently and earlier in the product development process (Figure 1). The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) offers guidance to manufacturers for communicating economic information before receiving marketing approval.²⁴ The process creates more comprehensive planning and budgeting for new therapies.

Figure 1. Pharma perspectives study on visibility into pricing trends and execution capabilities.

Four archetypes emerged from the study:



Y

Leaders had a high visibility on the key trends expected to impact pricing and strong capabilities to embeded identified trends into their price strategy and polices.



Doers are not the strongest in identifying and monitoring key pricing trends. However, when they identified a priority trend, they demonstrated high capability to execute upon the trend.

Source: Deloitte analysis

One measure for addressing shifts in drug pricing involves balancing a country's ability to pay with the individual needs of patients. Some pharmaceutical companies are using data analytics to predict local market responses to specific products. For instance, the biopharmaceutical company Amgen, working with local health systems, is using digital capabilities and advanced customer data and analytics to predict customer responses. This approach has also allowed the company to establish access closer to regulatory approval.²⁵

AstraZeneca relies on tailored payment models, such as Tiered Pricing, which is based on Gross National Income. The company has also prioritized value-based agreements to align cost with economic prosperity, clinical benefits, and other predetermined conditions. AstraZeneca also considers factors including national budgets, health economics data, and gross domestic product (GDP) when considering a government's ability to pay.²⁶

"These agreements allow us to make sure that you know the right medicine is being given to the right patient at the right time in the right setting," according to Ana Plata, Global Pricing Head, BioPharmaceuticals, AstraZeneca. "It's becoming much more common to discuss the impact our medicines are having on health care systems and make sure that patients indeed have timely access to those medicines we're providing."²⁷

In China, health care reforms are improving access to quality drugs, and life sciences companies are aligning their reimbursement strategies to gain access to the National Reimbursement Drug List (NRDL). The NRDL, which went into effect in January 2022, includes more than 2,800 drugs - more than 1,400 of which are Western-made and the rest from Chinese patents. The average negotiated price decrease across all drugs is 61.7%.²⁸

China prioritizes domestically produced drugs for the NRDL, but it's more likely to add foreign manufacturers of rare disease treatments to the list because of a lack of homegrown alternatives.²⁹ Multinational companies such as Pfizer, AstraZeneca, and Biogen recently reduced drug prices by more than 50% to secure a place on the NRDL. Despite the reduced prices, companies can take advantage of a large population to offset the lower margins. Through this strategy, AstraZeneca expects that new treatments will contribute to about 60% of its China revenue by 2024.³⁰

Marketing specialized, next generation therapies

The comparatively high cost for treating diseases that affect a small population, is one of the key pricing challenges for this group of medicines. Consider that the average annual cost of orphan treatments, designated in the US as a drug to treat, prevent, or diagnose a disease affecting fewer than 200,000 people.³¹ That figure was US\$32,000 per patient, with 39% costing more than US\$100,000 annually, according to a 2022 literature review and interviews with health plans and pharmaceutical manufacturers.³² As a result, the growth in specialized, next generation therapies requires its own type of commercialization strategy for pricing and reimbursement.

For instance, commercial teams must be conversant in niche disease areas to engage the right stakeholders. Some are bringing in health economics and outcomes research (HEOR) professionals to support commercial teams by combining commercial and pricing strategies with clinical knowledge.³³ Novartis and Takeda, the Japanese pharmaceutical company, are hiring third-party HEOR professionals, while other companies are upskilling their existing sales teams or tapping external HEOR consultants.³⁴

In 2021, the European Commission launched an open public consultation to consider revising legislation on pediatric medicines as well as treatments for rare diseases. The move came after a prior evaluation showed that while regulations had spurred research and development, there continued to be shortcomings in areas of unmet need, as well as a lack of accessibility to treatments for all EU patients.³⁵

Pursuing specialty and curative therapies often requires companies to spend a disproportionate amount time on a comparatively smaller patient population. Yet payment models often depend on delivering that outcome over 10 to 15 years. Therefore, some companies either accept payment later or give rebates if the patient enters remission or dies. This makes it difficult for companies to know how much they may have earned at any given time.

For example, if a company spends US\$500,000 a year for 50 years on hemophilia factor therapy, compared with a US\$3 million gene therapy that cures once, the two approaches require vastly different business models for investing in curative treatments with upfront payments, as opposed to long-term chronic treatments.

The rise in transformative therapies not only changes the modality from treatment to cure but also fundamentally changes the dynamics around pricing, requiring creative commercialization strategies as new treatments take center stage.

Managing implications of pricing trends and transparency

To increase drug access, life sciences companies' have potential legal hurdles and reputational risks. In the decade since Vermont became the first US state to pass a drug price transparency law, more than 20 other states have put price taken similar action, adopting provisions for price increase notification, price reporting, or budget controls. Pharmaceutical companies must keep up with a patchwork of rules or risk substantial fines: Nevada issued more than US\$17 million in penalties against non-compliant companies in 2019, while California fined companies more than US\$28 million for reporting violations the same year.³⁶

In its annual review of equitable access and pricing transparency, The Access to Medicines Foundation asserts that in a future pandemic, the governments should work with companies to create procurement agreements that are transparent with equitable pricing and global access. The foundation's Access to Medicine Index also stresses the importance of sharing knowledge to reduce disparities in access to medicine (Figure 2).³⁷

Figure 2. More companies are increasing transparency about their access-to-medicine activities



Source: 2022 Access to Medicine Index.

-66

"We see a lot of debate in the global context around R&D, cost, and transparency, and we're really only at the foothills when I think of value-based pricing," says Richard Torbett, chief executive of the Association of the British Pharmaceutical Industry. "We're only now starting to see the technology starting to come through in terms of data capture and access in health care systems to fuel genuinely value-based approaches. There's an exciting future there."³⁸

Pricing and reimbursement considerations for life sciences organizations

- How are we integrating pricing and access trends into our early clinical development decisions and data strategies?
- How can we communicate pricing updates while highlighting real-world evidence?
- How can we assure rapid access to market data to quickly identify trends related to coverage decisions?
- How can we ensure pricing transparency and more effectively manage our reputational risks in regard to pricing?



Patient centricity

Habits, capabilities, and data have all changed significantly in the last year. Three-fourths of people around the world now have experience with at-home tests for a global virus, and companies are increasingly able to access, interpret, and act on the billions of patient data points. And patient expectations and their ability to voice them have risen. The conditions for true(r) patient centricity are here.

On a given day, people actively participate in their own medical plans, treatment, and disease research across millions of touchpoints in the patient journey. There are more than 435,000 active clinical trials underway across the globe, and more than two million different types of devices spanning more than 7,000 groups of instruments, machines, and software used for medical purposes.^{1,2} To help capture the increasing amount of data from these inputs, devices such as fitness trackers provide around-the-clock monitoring (Figure 1). Together, these insights are propelling life sciences enterprises toward the next frontier of patient-centricity: the deployment of decentralized diagnostics and direct-to-consumer channels and solutions, the gathering of real-world information from wearables and sensors, and the creation of new digital alliances to achieve optimal patient outcomes.

Figure 1. Using health and fitness trackers to count steps, calories and more

Which of the following do you use your smartwatch/health and fitness tracker to measure? Respondents selected all that applied.



Source: Deloitte's Biopharma Digital Innovation Survey 2021

With the connected health care ecosystem, life sciences companies can expand their patient-centric ambitions beyond drug and medical device manufacturing. Increasingly, pharmaceutical companies and medical technology developers are collaborating with third parties to create more digitally interoperable systems and thus getting closer to 360° of patient understanding and experience. This focus on improving the patient experience also can help identify patient populations that might be undiagnosed or misdiagnosed, empowering people to have better conversations with doctors about treatments.

In building a strategy to enhance their understanding of patients, companies are making targeted investments in technology that can tailor product offerings and navigate complex rules as they learn what patients are experiencing – and what they'll need in the future (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Pharma companies are now facing up to the need to frame their patient-centric strategies for operating in a new customer-centered, digital ecosystem.

Source: Deloitte analysis

Decentralized diagnostics

Thanks to virtual checkups and smartphone-enabled diagnostic tools — and with COVID pandemic habits now increasingly entrenched — fewer patients are visiting centralized care sites. Instead, life sciences companies can collect data through personal devices from the comfort of a patient's home. In China, where 95% of the population is covered by social health insurance, the private supplementary insurance that was introduced in 2015 is emerging and helping reduce the financial burden of severe diseases such as cancer.³ By 2019, nearly all 31 provinces and municipalities in mainland China had established regional telemedicine centers, as the country aims to resolve the unequal allocation of health care resources.⁴

As "hospitals without walls" become more prevalent in health care, life sciences companies can use the innovations to collect real-time diagnostic information. The US-based medical equipment company ResMed has an outcome-based reimbursement strategy for its digitally connected sleep apnea machine. The strategy aims to increase adherence and improve patient outcomes; patients who are both remotely and self-monitored using cloud-connected devices are 87% compliant, compared with 50% to 60% on non-connected devices.⁵

As life sciences companies advance patient-centricity, many are exploring "real" direct-to-consumer (DTC) channels. DTC enables direct patient engagement when and where they seek it. The US-based medical technology company Becton, Dickinson and Company, also known as BD, acquired privately held Scanwell Health Inc., which makes smartphone-enabled at-home medical tests, and wants to expand the availability of diagnostic tests for an array of infectious diseases.

"The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the shift to new care settings, and BD is ready to deliver a smart, connected at-home diagnostic ecosystem to support traditional and telehealth providers and consumers," Dave Hickey, president of Life Sciences for BD, said when the transaction was announced.⁶

Drug discovery and development

Wearable devices comprise another realm of active exploration and investment for life sciences companies as they seek to broaden access to clinical trials and gain more real-time data in a more patient friendly way. Companies can collect data by using biosensors and wearables to generate and track digital biomarkers.

-66

"The digitization and visualization of individual lifestyle data will dramatically accelerate patient-centered drug research and development, "Ceri Davies, Head of Neuroscience Drug Discovery Unit at Takeda, said in a statement about the expected outcomes of the research. "Combined with this, we hope to develop new methods of utilizing big data, which will not only lead to the creation of high-precision pharmaceuticals, but also contribute to medical care tailored to the characteristics of patients."⁷

In a multi-year arrangement, Johnson & Johnson's Janssen pharmaceuticals division is licensing physIQ's accelerateIQTM platform to collect data across clinical studies using wearable biosensors. The collaboration allows the companies to perform continuous biosensor data collection, processing, and analysis while across discrete sensors, data types, and algorithms – enhancing the opportunity to create real-world insights for patients.⁸

At Tohoku University's Tohoku Medical Megabank Organization in Japan, the pharmaceutical firms Daiichi Sankyo and Takeda, and the medical IT company MICIN, are using a wearable device to track long-term lifestyle habits of 2,000 subjects through 2025, to create new drugs. The device captures sleep status, heart rate, and other activity levels that can be tough to pinpoint through self-reporting.⁹

In 2022, AstraZeneca tracked fluid volume in clinical trials for patients with chronic kidney disease using the medical software from Impedimed's SOZO system. The platform is designed around patient-centricity, measuring fluid status in less than 30 seconds. The platform helps provide early detection of secondary lymphedema, indicates fluid status for patients living with heart failure, and processes results immediately for online access and sharing across the entire health care system.¹⁰

The number of clinical trials has grown by more than 400% since 2010.¹¹ Recruitment, however, remains a challenge for discovery research (Figure 3). A study on the benefits of virtual randomized clinical trials shows that more than 80% of inperson studies are delayed because of insufficient patient recruitment, while 80% of research sites fail to meet enrollment goals. The study found that accessibility is a key barrier to participation, as 70% of the patients live more than two hours from a research institution, and 30% of participants drop out before the conclusion of clinical trials.¹²

Figure 3. Cost drivers in clinical trials



Source: Deloitte Analysis

The emergence of remote and virtual-participation trials is one method pharmaceutical companies are using to be more costefficient and to address patient barriers to traditional trial designs.

In 2021, the Swiss multinational health care company Roche developed the first virtual rare-disease clinical trial. The company wanted to test a new molecule for cancers with a specific genomic alteration in a range of tumor types, but only found in about 0.2% of all cancers. Capturing a statistically significant sample would mean screening 25,000 patients to enroll 50 patients for an in-person trial over a decade. Instead, the company used a virtual approach to remove geographical barriers – relying on virtual collaboration between the lead researcher and local medical teams and monitored through home visits.¹³

In an attempt to ease some of these barriers, this year the French multinational pharmaceutical and health care company Sanofi announced a partnership with the US consulting and technology provider THREAD, which will serve as the sole provider of unified decentralized clinical trials. The objective is improving access to customized clinical trials by providing a uniform experience for patients, investigators and sites where trials occur.¹⁴

In countries or regions where privacy laws and social norms render some of these approaches unfeasible, life sciences companies may need to adjust their approach. For instance, in 2021, a new EU regulation expanding the definition of "medical device" took effect, with a requirement that the product or service be certified by the appropriate regulatory authority. A subsequent EU regulation in 2022 introduced stricter controls before devices could be taken to market, highlighting the steps life sciences companies should consider when designing patient-centric products and services.¹⁵ Also in 2022, the US Food and Drug Administration issued new guidance on medical device data systems, signaling intensifying scrutiny of software, security, and device effectiveness.¹⁶

Patient-centric partnerships for better diagnostics, experiences, and outcomes

The diagnostic data collected by life sciences companies emanates from across a spectrum of locations, and many medical device companies need functional expertise or even third-party expertise to help organize the findings and share them with clinical professionals. Digital partnerships comprise another approach that life sciences companies are embracing to enhance their patient-centric offerings.

For instance, a major collaboration among the pharmaceutical companies AbbVie, Janssen, Novartis, Pfizer, and UCB is providing a "digital" endpoint for atopic dermatitis, which causes nighttime scratching and can affect sleep quality. The collaboration is developing an alternative for capturing patient-reported outcomes, which currently are gathered through passive, unsupervised monitoring. By developing a "digital" endpoint, the team hopes to gain a more precise understanding of the condition and reduce the time and cost to commercialize new therapies.¹⁷

In another collaboration, Biogen Inc., and MedRhythms are developing and commercializing an investigational, prescription digital therapeutic aimed at improving gait deficits in patients with multiple sclerosis (MS).¹⁸ A significant share of MS patients have a walking impairment. The MedRhythms technology includes sensors on shoes to detect walking gait, relaying the information to a smartphone app that can adapt the music to match rhythm in real-time.¹⁹

Other companies want to improve patient health by predicting the likelihood of future health implications. The US-based data platform DNAnexus, a cloud-based genomic and biomedical data access and analysis software, allows scientists to analyze large data sets. Another US-based health intelligence company, Human Longevity, has used the DNAnexus platform to collect and analyze data from whole-genome sequencing, imaging, and different biomarkers to create data-driven personalized health platforms.²⁰

Meanwhile, MolecularYou, a Canadian biotechnology research company, has created a health assessment blood test kit and associated app that can produce a unique health report with more than 200 biomarkers, offering insight into current and future health risks. Molecular You can identify early biomarkers outside of normal ranges and provide interventions to help normalize them before chronic symptoms and disease occur.²¹ The technology uses nutrition and exercise modification research to develop action plans to normalize biomarkers detected outside of normal ranges – information that provides users more comprehensive analyses of their health before as they age.²²

Prescription-based digital therapeutics are also contributing to patient-centricity by improving safety signaling and medication adherence – all through connected devices. Akili, the US-based prescription digital medicine company, has developed an

ADHD treatment for children ages 8 to 12. The treatment uses video games on mobile devices, targeting areas of the brain that help regulate attention function. As an FDA-authorized medical device, the EndeavorRx digital therapeutic has helped 68% of patients improve in ADHD-related impairments after two months of treatment. Meanwhile, 73% of children using the tool reported improvements in their attention.²³

The technologies are also being used to help patients quit smoking. Click Therapeutics' Clickotine is a digital therapeutic that uses a mobile app integrated with nicotine replacement therapy. Thirty percent of study participants achieved 30-day sustained abstinence from smoking.²⁴

An analysis of the only FDA-authorized prescription digital therapeutics for chronic insomnia, showed both real-world health care resource use reductions as well as cost savings compared with sleep medicines alone. Patients using the therapeutic could save more than US\$8,200 over 24 months, compared with insomnia medications alone.²⁵

This type of real-world data curation enables life sciences companies to more precisely target patient cohorts that would benefit from their therapeutics. Optum, the US pharmacy benefit manager, offers access to real-world data for use by various life sciences teams, including epidemiology and commercial, health economics, and outcomes research. The company's electronic health record data comprises more information from more than 100 million unique lives, allowing researchers to examine treatment patterns and outcomes for specific populations.²⁶

By focusing on technologies that enhance the interoperability among distinct entities, life sciences companies can create a digitally interoperable ecosystem, improving patient care. To be clear, patients themselves who play an outsized role in their care – interacting with health care providers on a limited basis while they manage medications and cope with the stress of an illness – giving life sciences companies additional incentive to understand the drivers of patient behavior.²⁷

What's more, full digitization may only be worthwhile if patients are receptive to sharing sensitive personal information. A Deloitte survey in Switzerland revealed a trust crisis among health entities, with 62% of respondents saying they didn't want their health data shared with private companies under any circumstances.²⁸

"When we think about all these things in med tech whether they're wearables, whether they're devices, whatever they are, they seamlessly need to fit into a patient's life, and then they seamlessly need to fit into the clinicians or the hospitals," says Keith Boettiger, President, Abbott Heart Failure. "A lot of what you see in med tech today is is somebody using engineering to solve the problem. But it's not ideal for the patients, not ideal for the physicians or ideal for the hospital. We need to develop devices and workflows that make the data easy to see and put it in the hands of patients so they can take action and manage their own care."

Patient-centric considerations for life sciences organizations

- 1. Where are the opportunities to broaden existing alliances to help patients navigate the health care ecosystem more easily?
- 2. How can we deliver more personalized content?
- 3. How can we identify at-risk reaching patients and ensure they get access to our services and products?
- 4. How can we adopt a direct-to-consumer approach?



Digital transformation

COVID-19 has had a profound impact on the life sciences sector, including the digital transformation that it ushered into the sector at scale and in some cases overnight. Before the pandemic, life sciences organizations, which include biopharma and medtech companies, lagged other industries in digital innovation. However, as COVID-19 spread, they quickly embraced a variety of technologies that allowed them to run their businesses remotely or virtually.¹ Innovation projects that had been on the books for years received funding and advanced rapidly. Now three years later, we can see the impact of this digital transformation: what works, what is still in progress, and what remains elusive.

"Digital innovation has been accelerated by 10 years by what has happened over the course of the last 18 months," said Manoj Raghunandan, President, Global Self-care and Consumer Experience, Johnson & Johnson.²

Alex Gorsky, the company's former CEO and Chairman, goes further: "I can't think of a more exciting time. I've never seen the kind of opportunities now where we're seeing science, technology and innovation accelerating at such a rapid rate."³

During the pandemic, cloud technologies and platforms gave organizations the scale and flexibility to enable employees to work remotely and collaborate, which includes storing and sharing data across third-party networks and enabled by artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning (ML) algorithms. Cloud technology also helped reduce costs, improve time-to-discovery and insight, and collect data to improve manufacturing and supply chain operations. At the same time, pressure to develop vaccines and therapies required competitors to become collaborators and share digital information.

Technology that was still in the planning stages in 2020 is now an integral part of many life sciences companies heading into 2023.

"A few years ago, we were all talking about Data an Digital as a concept. Today, we're talking about how it drives value in the operations and innovation engines of our company," says Gregory Hersch, senior vice president for enterprise strategy and venture for Merck. "And now, we need to start scaling these innovations across products, countries, and operations."⁴

However, not all technology has been adopted equally. Biopharma companies have embraced cloud platforms, AI, and wearables more than the Internet of Things (IoT) or blockchain (Figure 1). Nevertheless, the pandemic has fundamentally changed how these companies view digital solutions, and those companies that continue to embrace innovation will gain a competitive advantage in the years ahead over the competitors who do not.

Figure 1. Biopharma's experience with digital technologies is highest in cloud, AI, and wearables

Which of the following best describes your experience with each digital innovation technology within your organization?



Source: Deloitte's Biopharma Digital Innovation Survey 2021

Among leading biopharma and medical technology companies, digital solutions that were once seen as long-term projects for CIOs, are becoming vital to business operations. Life sciences organizations are now focused not on the technology itself, but how it's integrated into the business.



For example, biopharma companies are using data to improve site selection for clinical trials and the oversight of supply chains, both of which have been effective. Technology further removed from operations, such as applications for patient safety, have been slower to advance.
The pandemic accelerated the application of digital solutions to optimize how work is done across the pharmaceutical and medical technology value chain. Initially, limitations on physical interactions drove demand, but patients preferred many of the digital solutions, and as payers reimbursed for them, it expanded capacity and reduced no-show rates. Technology in this environment has less do with transformation than with making processes faster and less expensive. Below is a sample of how new and emerging technologies are helping industry players optimize:

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS): In clinical development, companies are using SaaS platforms to simplify operations such as revenue and vendor management and to track data on clinical trial participants. The industry is adopting analytics-driven approach to support price management and tender processes, which helps in improve decision-making and optimize resource allocation.⁶ Software is generating value in areas such as drug discovery as biopharma organizations look to cut research costs, shorten timelines, and improve transparency. The market for life sciences software is expected to reach US\$18 billion by 2025 from US\$11 billion in 2020.⁷

Artificial intelligence (AI): Biopharma companies are adopting AI for clinical and patient data analysis, supply chain and logistics management, physician understanding and predictive behavior analysis. In addition, they are using it internally to analyze and predict employee behavior, especially for ethics and compliance. AI can enhance drug design, improve quality checks, and provide predictive maintenance for manufacturing operations. It can also identify appropriate subjects for clinical trials by analyzing claims data. Even though the tech industry is currently experiencing disruption, we expect we will see more life sciences organizations collaborating with tech companies as they have in the past such as Google Health, Enlitic, and Owkin to use AI to improve clinical trial design and automate manufacturing processes.⁸ AI can also be used to predict failure rates in medical devices.

We also are seeing broader adoption of AI in parts of clinical practice and workflow. As this accelerates, it will have additional implications for how life sciences manufacturers work with care providers. For example, if AI solutions become a broadly accepted tool in a clinician's approach to screening, it will have implications on study design, endpoints, and data strategy.

Internet of things (IoT): Smart sensors and smart meters will monitor real-time data to improve product efficiency, increase supply chain visibility, and enhance operational effectiveness. These devices and other linked IoT elements can bring greater efficiencies to manufacturing, packaging, warehousing, and other aspects of supply chain management. The prevalence of IoT services offers biopharma and medtech organizations the chance to optimize costs by streamlining supply chains, analyzing operations, and identifying new value-creation opportunities. Greater visibility of supply chains, for example, could help identify how drugs such as opioids fall into the wrong hands or quickly notify patients of a medical device recall.⁹

Automation: Companies such as Zenith Technology and Rockwell Automation are partnering with life sciences organizations to develop robotic process automation and business process modeling that can automate repetitive tasks, such as documentation at clinical sites, safety processing, and clinical research.^{10,11} Automation can reduce costs for energy and raw materials, while improving product quality and consistency, and promoting safer work environments. It also speeds processing and packaging of pharmaceuticals while reducing human error.

Blockchain: Though not yet as widely embraced across the sector, some life sciences organizations are using distributed ledger technology to improve trust, provide greater transparency, and support patient safety and empowerment. Blockchain can help biopharma companies track counterfeit medicine and simplify supply transactions with hospitals, clinics, and other treatment facilities. Greater visibility of supply chains and traceability of pharmaceuticals and devices, for example, could help identify how drugs such as opioids fall into the wrong hands or quickly notify patients of a medical device recall.¹²

Data lakes: Cloud platforms such as ServiceNow are helping life sciences organizations build control towers or data hubs so that organizations can merge production, inventory, and other internal data with that of intermediaries and partners to provide real-time visibility into material and product flow.¹³

Wearables and AR/VR: The pandemic disrupted many clinical trials because participants could not readily access trial sites. Life sciences companies responded by adopting hybrid study approaches that included delivering medications and wearable technology directly to patients and monitoring and assessing them remotely, resulting in reduced trial cycle times and study. protocol deviations that would render results inconclusive. Similarly, travel restrictions forced manufacturing sites to operate with skeleton crews, and companies deployed wearable and AR/VR technologies so on-site staff could configure equipment, manage processes, and troubleshoot. Many companies plan to continue to use these technologies post-pandemic because they can increase data collection without imposing an undue burden on patients or study site staff.

Digital Therapeutics: Web-based applications that help patients with certain conditions, such as diabetes, improve their health and wellness or improve outcomes. Some applications are designed to help patients modify behavior, increase engagement with health care providers, or prevent more expensive treatments. For pharmaceutical and medtech companies, digital therapeutics can differentiate products with less capital investment than R&D. Total investment in digital therapeutics has already topped US\$600 million and the market is still in its infancy. The growth potential has attracted technology giants looking to change the health care landscape, payers applying it to reimbursement models and exploring how the patient data collected through such products can be leveraged to inform coverage, and start-ups that are introducing innovative ideas to attract investors.¹⁴

New threats

The advantages that made digital technology so attractive during the pandemic can also leave companies vulnerable. While a digital strategy can help a life sciences company improve, it also can expose companies to new risks as data starts to flow outside proprietary systems and into data lakes that sit on various cloud platforms.

Law enforcement agencies say pharmaceutical companies are increasingly being targeted for cyberattacks. In the past few years, cyberattacks¹⁵ against biopharma and medical technology companies have disrupted supply chains, hobbled manufacturing processes, erased years of research, and resulted in hundreds of millions of dollars in damages. Cybercriminals likely assume that these companies, and other health organizations, are willing to pay ransoms because their services are critical. The attackers may also be drawn to the industry's trade secrets and intellectual property, its vast stores of personal health data, and its financial resources.¹⁶ At the same time, the cyberattacks raise concens that hackers also could target implantable devices such as pacemakers, defibrillators, and neurostimulators that are monitored or programmed remotely.

Migrating systems to the cloud or adopting virtual clinical trials can expose companies to new types of attacks. These threats should be considered throughout the process—from requirements for architecture and design to development, testing, and deployment. Gaps can occur when cybersecurity is not integrated from the beginning. Such gaps could be exploited, potentially negating any progress or trust that would have been gained through the new approach.

The risks only increase as digital data becomes more consumable and accessible from multiple platforms and mobile devices, much like banking information. The easier data is to access, the more it needs protecting. This isn't always as easy as it sounds. For example, a company might not know exactly what its data contains if any portion of the data is tagged incorrectly. Companies must ensure that only designated users can access designated data through a designated channel. At the same time, the data must be retrievable for audits or other internal reviews. Companies must ensure that only designated users can access designated must be retrievable for audits or other internal reviews. The data must be retrievable for audits or other internal reviews.

About half of US consumers do not trust biopharma companies.¹⁷ As life sciences operate more closely with consumers, patients, and customers, garnering end-user trust can become even more important. Allowing end-users to securely access their data when they want to often is the first interaction a consumer has with the company. Finding the perfect balance of accessibility, while protecting critical information, brings cybersecurity and data protection to the forefront of building and growing trust.

In addition, as technology such as AI advances and becomes used more widely, it invites new risks, such as understanding how AI is deriving its answers and where the data it's using is coming from.

-66

We really need to understand what biases are already there and how embedded they are in something that is going to propagate those biases for as long as that model is used," Hersch says "Another point is the data sets we're using. Al requires massive amounts of data. "We're often relying on patient source data that has come through third parties. Those third parties have assured us that patient's privacy rights have been respected in the collection of that data. But how do we really know that is true? And to what standard?¹⁸

Transforming the organization

As the world emerges from the pandemic, the life sciences industry is at a crossroads. COVID-19 has shown companies that they need to embrace digital transformation, and most of them are taking more risks and investing in new technology. Those that don't may be left behind or at least find themselves at a competitive disadvantage. Alex Gorsky's perspective is that "there's not a place in health care from development to even patient delivery ... all these areas which we would usually only equate with Silicon Valley. I think they are going to be ubiquitous in health care in a way we haven't seen."¹⁹

A Deloitte survey of 150 biopharma leaders found that almost 80% said their organizations needed to be more aggressive in adopting digital technologies.²⁰ But simply adopting technology to address specific issues isn't enough. Data, for example, should be considered an asset—one that can be used to improve the business, enhance efficiencies, and develop new strategies and competitive advantages.

As life sciences organizations continue their digital transformation in 2023, they need to move from doing digital to being digital by embracing enterprise-wide digital integration.

This broad, holistic embrace of digital technology cuts across value chains, business units, therapeutic areas, and strategic focus. This means moving from transactional engagements to an insight-driven, value-based enterprise. The transformation should connect and elevate all technology as part of a companywide digital strategy.

Achieving digital maturity

As the challenges of the pandemic ease, life sciences organizations are reassessing their digital strategies and determining what to retain and what to advance to make 2023 the year of digital optimization.

There's much work to do. Deloitte's research has found that only about 20% of biopharma companies are digitally maturing (Figure 2).²¹ And while the adoption of digital solutions has accelerated since the pandemic, life sciences still lags other industries such as banking in its embrace of cutting-edge technology.

-66

If we go back to 2017, we were all getting used to the idea of a cloud being a secure place to put things," Merck's Hersch says. "The one thing that is different now is ... how embedded tech is in all of our basic processes. But frankly, I'd hoped we'd be much further along than we are today.²²

Figure 2. Digitally mature biopharma companies are most likely to explore new ways of doing business (vs. those in the developing or early stages of digital adoption)



Digital objectives breakdown by maturity



Source: Deloitte Center for Health Solutions analysis of MIT SMR and Deloitte's 2018 Digital Business Global Executive Survey data

Too many companies are still distracted by the "hype cycle" of the latest technology, Hersch says, rather than looking at ways to scale and improve the technology they already have.

The hype cycle drags people down because the stuff that's tangible, proven, and works doesn't sound as cool, he says. Focusing on things that are actually delivering value is what needs to happen.²³

As companies rethink their future, they will move from adopting digital technology in pockets and instead initiate broader digital transformations that to position themselves for a more competitive marketplace where patient engagement and traditional selling models are being transformed out of necessity.

Companies that fail to successfully navigate these digital transformations risk becoming minimized or boxed in (or boxed out) by the digital health care ecosystem. Enterprise digital transformations deliver more significant business advantages by applying innovation and digital technology to existing and new business models in strategic, creative, and agile ways for patient, partner, and employee impact, which allows companies to accelerate their core mission to deliver improved health, wellness, and experiences for their patients; drive business impact; and inspire company employees and stakeholders.

Digital transformation and maturity considerations for life sciences organizations

No strategic business transformation is easy. Many companies in many industries talk about it. As life sciences leaders drive digital transformation and maturity in their organizations they will need to address six key questions:²⁴

- 1. What is my holistic digital ambition? The strategic business question is what digital transformation strategy fits a company's strategic objectives, financial, and competitive needs.
- 2. How do I value and position a broader digital transformation? Successful companies use a structured digital value model that consists of value, operational performance, and capability measures.
- **3.** How do I activate my ecosystem to accelerate digital value and realization? Life sciences companies should engage their wider ecosystem to leverage non-traditional approaches.
- 4. How do I structure, mobilize, and align my organization for success? Digital transformations should be structured to drive alignment, reinforce what works, scale quickly and mobilize for success to meet critical strategic objectives.
- 5. How do we future proof our capabilities and become an adaptable organization? Leaders should view digital transformation as an ongoing process that requires flexibility. It's important to avoid hardwiring processes.
- 6. How do I monetize it to add value to my organization and the existing payer system since it will take large investments to create and maintain? Digital technology can bring greater efficacy to drug and device development, improving the margins for each and encouraging a broader range of products.



Elevating health equity

Life sciences organizations develop therapies and devices that can save or change lives, but their products don't always reach the people who need them. Inequities in health systems are both broad—including significant variations in global care delivery resources, investment, and access to care—and more localized—such as unconscious bias, a lack of trust, and language barriers.

These inequities fall disproportionately on underserved populations and result from a complex interplay of social, economic, and political factors that contribute to systemic underinvestment in poorer countries. While this results in inadequate health outcomes for the people who live there, it also affects communities, companies, governments, and other stakeholders. Like environmental, social and governance initiatives, health equity is a growing concern among investors and stakeholders. Health inequities strain workforces and productivity, create supply-chain challenges, and influence consumers' purchasing decisions. They cost life sciences companies trillions of dollars in lost productivity annually.¹ By addressing health inequities, life sciences leaders can boost productivity, increase market opportunities, generate growth, and improve their competitive advantage.

Medical device manufacturers and biopharmaceutical companies can make a significant difference by changing their approaches to developing and distributing their products and more deliberately focusing on underserved and untapped markets. It's a business model choice not a charity model.

Advancing health equity effectively involves a comprehensive set of choices. Life sciences leaders can make decisions that improve the health and well-being of everyone with whom their organizations engage: employees and their families, customers, contractors, suppliers, alliance partners, and communities. This requires developing a strategy that places health equity at the center of the business and extends across four domains: the organization, its offerings, its community, and its ecosystem (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Four domains of action



Organization	Offerings	ر شک	Ecosystem
Collect and use data from employees to design equitable employee benefit programs. Mandate cultural competency and implicit bias training for all employees	Advance value-based payment models and reward for equitable outcomes as well as overall outcomes Design for equity in R&D and when creating new products ans services	Strategically invest in communities to buld on existing assets while helping to fill gaps Partner with traditional competitors to magnify impact on health equity in the same virtual or geographic communities	Consider diversity when selecting vendors and suppliers Amplify your health equity efforts through a defined policy agenda

Source: Deloitte Analysis and National Academy of Medicine

Industry players can take specific actions in all these domains to meaningfully advance health equity:

Organization: Employees increasingly want their organizations to address health equity, from providing health care coverage to offering childcare to addressing mental health concerns in the workplace. Businesses have an incentive to improve workplace wellness. Health disparities result in an estimated US\$42 billion in untapped productivity globally.² Dental and oral health problems cost employers 164 million hours of work each year in the US alone.³ In South Korea, 21.5% of lost productivity is attributed to employees with depression and another 13% is from workers experiencing chronic pain.⁴ Identifying and responding to these health needs, and offering comprehensive benefits to address them can increase productivity, reduce turnover and sick days, lower employer health care costs, and improve the quality of work. Investing in family-friendly policies can boost productivity, reduce workplace accidents, and improve an organization's ability to attract, motivate, and retain employees. For example, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. in Japan increased retention of new mothers by more than 400% and saved US\$45 million in turnover-related costs by providing childcare services and extended maternity leave to its employees.⁵

Offerings: How companies create, price, market, and distribute their products affects health equity and public perception. The participants who are chosen for clinical trials influence the outcomes and ultimately determine who benefits from a drug. Those outcomes, in turn, affect market share.^{6,7} For example, if a clinical trial for an HIV prevention drug only includes cisgender men and transgender women, the drug may have unforeseen implications for individuals assigned female at birth.⁸ Coincidentally, these women are disproportionately impacted by HIV globally.^{9,10} To prevent these outcomes, life sciences organizations should ensure drugs and devices are developed without biases in data and algorithms and recruit trial participants from a broader ethnical and economic backgrounds. Even if a drug is equitably formulated, its cost and a lack of accessibility may prevent it from reaching its target patients. The public increasingly demands a health-first approach, and they are willing to pay for it.¹¹ Eighty percent of consumers are willing to spend more when they know they are buying from a company that is environmentally or socially responsible.¹²

Community: Companies that invest in addressing health inequities by improving health outcomes among employees and their communities create a larger market of healthy and economically empowered consumers. These consumers can spend more and generate incremental revenue growth. Consumers value ethical and socially conscious organizations and are likely to remain loyal to companies that support their communities. By investing in community health, life sciences organizations also can better retain workers and attract more qualified recruits.¹³

Ecosystems: Vendors and suppliers that operate inequitably may expose their clients to legal and financial risk. In 2018, the province of British Columbia, Canada, accused opioid manufacturers, drug distributors, and consultants of deceptive marketing practices that fueled addiction and overdose deaths.¹⁴ The companies settled the lawsuit for CAD US\$150 million. On the other hand, companies that review fair labor practices throughout their supply chain can avoid potential legal action or loss of customers because of the actions of their partners. Poor labor practices can compromise worker health and wellbeing, compounding lost productivity and absenteeism. Companies that evaluate potential vendors and partners for fair practices, transparency, and living wages before entering contracts can help create positive health equity impact across their ecosystems.

At the same time, life sciences companies can partner with other organizations to expand health equity. By sharing insights and forming more public-private partnerships, companies can help address inequities locally. For example, AstraZeneca is working with governments and local health care professionals to close gaps in asthma care in Africa. The initiative, known as PUMUA, has partnered with more than 20 local health systems, reached almost 2,000 physicians, and expanded access to asthma treatments for patients at 700 public hospitals and faith-based facilities.¹⁵

Businesses, of course, can't address health equity alone, but they remain an influential voice. That's why the Deloitte Health Equity Institutes—which are dedicated to advancing health equity through cross-border collaboration, philanthropic investment, and research activity—teamed with the World Economic Forum (WEF) to develop the Global Health Equity Network (GHEN). The network brings together large-scale organizations to support how global leaders think about—and act on—health equity.

As part of that effort, in January 2023, Deloitte and 38 other organizations signed the signed GHEN's Zero Health Gaps Pledge, a commitment to advance health equity globally. The pledge includes 10 key commitments all signatories have made to embed health equity principles throughout their operations, workforce, and guiding philosophies. It recognizes that eliminating health inequities will require a multi-disciplinary approach that includes supporting strong diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) programs; providing accessible high-quality health and mental health services; paying employees across the supply chain a living wage; and investing in safe living environments.¹⁶

Participants pledge to:

- 1. Continually seek to understand how our organization can help address the root causes of health inequities and create a positive health equity impact.
- 2. Assess our own organization's health equity impact across our workforce (e.g., employee workplace health exposures), offerings and services (e.g., quality and accessibility for underserved populations), communities (e.g., investments in community health) and ecosystems (e.g., health equity promotion through advocacy and public statements).
- 3. Consistently seek to understand health equity needs across our workforce, consumer base, communities, and ecosystem to make strategic decisions, inclusive of investments, and use insights to inform our organization's choices from strategy to execution.
- 4. Measure the impact of our health equity efforts, such as health and wellbeing benefits, in ways that identify variations between and across groups, and use insight to inform decisions. Seek to employ ethical use of data and strong privacy controls.

- 5. Seek to employ ethical use of data and strong privacy controls.
- 6. Look for opportunities to share progress externally, including potentially as a part of environmental, social, and governance (ESG) and other sustainability reporting.
- 7. Establish and strengthen accountability systems within our organization by creating an environment where lessons can be shared and scaled, including having health equity as an agenda item at board meetings.
- 8. Collaborate with communities to identify key health equity needs and identify potential solutions, and to measure impact.
- 9. Inspire other organizations across sectors to act, to share learnings and collective investment decisions, and to accelerate the work of the GHEN and beyond.
- 10. Support the creation of a concrete, measurable roadmap with achievable global milestones towards health equity. Seek to employ ethical use of data and strong privacy control.

Life sciences organizations must make addressing health inequities a business imperative and implementing the Zero Health Gaps Pledge can benefit them both financially and reputationally.

"We believe that access to equitable and high-quality health care is a fundamental human right, and we are committed to working with global leaders and organizations to improve the lives of millions of people throughout the world," said Helen Giza, CEO of Fresenius Medical Care, one of the signatories of the pledge. "We will also look inward and achieve clear, actionable steps to make our processes economically and environmentally sustainable, while increasing access to the care we provide in the global communities we serve."¹⁷

Deloitte estimates that biopharma and medical device companies could generate returns of as much as 10-to-1 on their investment by supporting access to care in underserved markets and by working to ensure that all patients—regardless of race, ethnicity, age, sex, or socioeconomic status—have access to the devices and therapies they need.¹⁸

The cost of health inequities

The cost of inaction is too great to ignore. Across the health ecosystem, inequities can limit people's access to affordable, highquality care, create avoidable costs and financial waste, and impact every individual's potential to achieve health and well-being.

In the US health system, for example, inequities cost about US\$320 billion and could exceed US\$1 trillion in annual spending by 2040 if left unaddressed (Figure 2). This projected rise in health care spending could cost the average American at least US\$3,000 annually, up from current costs of US\$1,000 per year.¹⁹

Figure 2. Modeling the cost of health inequities in 2040



Note: All values are in US dollars. Sources: Deloitte analysis

Meanwhile, the European Parliament estimated that health inequities in the European Union cost about 1.4% of GDP each year, almost matching defense spending of 1.6% of GDP.²⁰

Data inequity

The first step in reducing inequities is identifying them. Unfortunately, a lack of data standards makes addressing systemwide biases much more challenging. In many cases, data on race and ethnicity is not collected or properly recorded, in others, it is misused in determining treatment and diagnosis. Some countries ban the collection of such data all together. Technology can exacerbate these issues. Algorithms may inappropriately account for race factors based on biased data, for example. If these systemic issues aren't sufficiently addressed, inequities will likely continue to widen, possibly at exponential rates.

Collecting data about race, ethnicity, language, disabilities, sexual orientation, and gender identity can be difficult. Patients may skip these questions on forms because they don't understand the importance of providing the information. They may feel uneasy answering them verbally. As a result, administrative or clinical staff may simply guess at the answers, which can lead to data errors, deficiencies, and inconsistencies.

In addition, different providers, insurers, and government organizations may have different definitions or methods of collecting data, such as having one category for Asian and Latinx populations, despite the differences between the two groups. These discrepancies can limit the effectiveness of data. And systemic bias can lead to poor understanding of certain diseases, such as the longstanding believe among US researchers that sickle cell disease only affects Black people, when in fact it is correlated with an evolutionary adaptation to malaria exposure, not skin color (Figure 3).^{21,22}

Figure 3. Examples of misrepresentation of race



Sources: NEJM and Deloitte analysis.

Improving clinical trial diversity

Clinical trials provide essential care for patients by offering therapies that can treat disease often years before drugs are approved. Trial participants also receive additional medical care they might not receive otherwise.

Yet barriers to trial diversity persist in part because life sciences organizations have not done enough to boost awareness that trials are being offered, provide suitable access for all groups, or address issues of mistrust in underrepresented communities. Trust across the system, from individual practitioners to institutions and in data and technology, is crucial. It will be important to rebuild trust with people and communities intentionally by understanding needs, improving experiences, and building a more diverse and inclusive workforce

The lack of diversity in clinical trials is critical because people of different ages, races, and ethnicities may react differently to differing therapies and devices. At the very least, participants in clinical trials should represents the patients who will use therapies and devices, but they often do not. For example, 40% of US citizens are racial or ethnic minorities, but 78% of clinical trial participants are white. While cancer is the leading cause of death for Asian-Americans, they make up only 3% of clinical trial participants for cancer treatments.^{23,24}

In Europe, it's much the same. A study of clinical trials for new cancer treatments between 2009 and 2019 found that patients in Western Europe had access to far more treatments than those in the central or eastern parts of the continent. Belgium, for example, conducted 11.06 trials per 100,000 people, compared with 0.14 in Albania.²⁵

The industry has a business case for addressing the inequity of clinical trials. By late 2022, it was short 1.4 million participants for Phase 3 trails that were seeking enrollment. Only 46% of trials started in the last five years reported meeting enrollment requirements (Figure 4).²⁶



Figure 4. Examples of misrepresentation of race

Sources: Clinicaltrials.gov

To address these shortcomings, the Deloitte US Center for Health Solutions, Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA), and its member companies published their first industrywide principles on clinical trial diversity in November 2020, reflecting member companies' voluntary commitment to enhancing clinical trial diversity.²⁷

Pharmacy chains Walgreens and CVS recently entered the clinical trials business, hoping to use their thousands of retail outlets to boost both recruitment and diversity of participants.²⁸ By offering more locations, with more flexible hours, more people from different socioeconomic backgrounds can participate more easily in clinical trials.

-60

Bristol-Myers Squibb has launched an initiative to increase trial participation globally among people with disabilities.²⁹ A recent study found that 12.4% of people with intellectual or developmental disabilities, and 1.8% of those with physical disabilities were specially excluded based on trial criteria, even though the disabled are the world's largest underrepresented group.³⁰

"People with disabilities are omitted from conversations about diversity and inclusion, despite being the largest underrepresented group in the world—and the only underrepresented group anyone can join at any given moment", said Tinamarie Duff, who leads the company's Global People and Business Resource Group.³¹

Meanwhile, Swiss drug maker Novartis recently invested US\$17.7 million in a 10-year plan to address inequities in clinical trials through collaboration with 26 historically Black colleges, universities, and medical schools. Merck and Sanofi have also signed on to the program.³²

Reliable information from trusted messengers in the community—such as historically black institutions—is critical to encouraging participation from underserved communities in clinical trials. Valued partners can help ensure that communications are culturally sensitive and free of unconscious or unintended bias. Many community leaders—faith-based organizations, civic leaders, educators, barbers, and beauty shops—can be trusted messengers, working with life sciences organizations and health providers to communicate important information. For example, nurses can advocate for clinical trials and educate their local communities about them. This is especially important in rural communities, where health workers are often liaisons to underserved populations.³³

Taking action

Achieving health equity requires leaders to design and build systems that advance health equity as an outcome. To do this, they should root out racism both within and outside the life sciences sector to break the vicious cycle of inequity that stands in the way of all individuals reaching their potential for health and well-being. Disparities in outcomes should not, and do not have to, be driven by racism and bias.

For life sciences organizations, addressing racism and other biases to advance health equity can be a point of competitive advantage. Not only can it help them attract the best talent and elevate their brand and reputation, but healthier workers have fewer sick days, are more productive on the job, and have lower medical care costs. And life sciences organizations have even more reason to pursue health equity because it can drive direct improvements to their mission to continually advance innovation through new therapies and devices for improving care.

Every organization should plan to address health inequities by designing and enabling the future of health care around people and equity. Life sciences incumbents, industry disruptors, community organizations, and government agencies each have a role to play in removing the barriers that lead to health inequities and turning unaffordable costs into opportunities.

Health equity considerations for life sciences organizations

To elevate health equity, life sciences companies need to develop specific strategies that prioritize equity and overcome barriers that can limit access to their products. Companies should:

- Be intentional: Infusing equity-centered thinking into business choices should be prioritized to build wellness-focused, outcomes-driven prevention and delivery systems that seek to serve everyone, regardless of race, ethnicity, and socio-economic status.
- Form cross-sector partnerships: Forge alliances among existing stakeholders, new partners, and the government to create change. Life sciences organizations should collaborate with agencies, organizations, and coalitions that work on initiatives to address the root causes of health inequities.
- Measure progress: Accessible, platform-agnostic, and inclusive data and technology infrastructure paired with representative data collection, key performance indicators, and ongoing evaluation likely will be necessary to define and track progress in tackling health equity. But, don't get too wound up around measurement or attracted to overly complex measurement initiatives and schemes. In the end, progress is directly measurable by an increase in outcomes in a given area of focus.
- Address individual and community-level barriers: Up to 80% of health outcomes are affected by social, economic, and environmental factors. These drivers of health (DOH)—also known as social determinants of health—include physical environment, food, infrastructure, economy, wealth, employment, education, social connections, and safety.³⁴ These nonmedical factors can have a negative impact on health. Moreover, barriers, such as health and digital literacy and care infrastructure, can hinder access to care. Addressing the DOH, removing barriers to access, and creating healthy environments will likely require investments in data, technology, and public health infrastructure at the federal, state, and local level.
- **Promote awareness:** Educate clinicians about the impact unconscious biases can have when it comes to prescribing medications and suggesting treatments. Peer-to-peer examples of success in reaching underserved populations can be a powerful tool.
- Build trust: Form relationships with local community leaders and with trusted organizations that serve those communities.³⁵
- Tailor products to diverse needs: Consider cultural nuances in making translations from English. At least 350 different languages are spoken in US homes, according to the US Census Bureau, and more than 65 million people have limited English proficiency. Many medical devices are aimed at English-speaking consumers, and directions for prescription drugs tend to be written only in English.
- Improve access: Develop innovative strategies and education that open doors to medications and technologies. This includes reducing financial barriers, especially in the US, where the tiered health insurance system can make it difficult for everyone to have access to the same therapies and medical devices. High deductibles, for example, could put some devices and therapies out of reach for some patients. But putting off needed care could turn a preventable or treatable illness into one that is difficult or expensive to manage.

Contacts

Author

Vicky Levy Deloitte Global Life Sciences Sector Leader vlevy@deloitte.com

Global contacts

Chris Caruso Deloitte Global Financial Advisory Leader chcaruso@deloitte.com

Prateep Menon Principal Deloitte United States pmenon@deloitte.com

Colin Terry Partner Deloitte United Kingdom colterry@deloitte.co.uk

Neil Lesser Principal Deloitte United States nlesser@deloitte.com

Lieven Comeyne Partner Deloitte Belgium Icomeyne@deloitte.com

Laks Pernenkil Principal Deloitte United States Ipernenkil@deloitte.com

Anne Phelps Principal Deloitte United States annephelps@deloitte.com

Acknowledgements

Hanno Ronte Partner Deloitte United Kingdom hronte@deloitte.co.uk

Patricia Gee Partner Deloitte Switzerland pgee@deloitte.ch

Mark Miller Managing Director Deloitte United States markmiller@deloitte.com

Ryan Hoffmeister Principal Deloitte United States rhoffmeister@deloitte.com

Todd Konersmann

Principal Deloitte United States tkonersmann@deloitte.com

Greg Reh Deloitte Global Life Sciences & Health Care Industry Leader grreh@deloitte.com

We would like to thank the following individuals for their contributions to this report: Vicky Levy, Chris Caruso, Prateep Menon, Simon Gisby, Teresa Leste, Greg Reh, Josh Lee, David Rabinowitz, Sarah Shier, Phoebe Morgan, Lieven Comeyne, Laks Pernenkil, Joe Lewis, Matt Humphreys, Tom Van Wesemael, Patricia Gee, Mark Miller, Ryan Hoffmeister, Brad Maruca, Carrie Xiao, Shinji Nishigami, Colin Terry, Neil Lesser, Kevin Dondarski, Karen Taylor, Emily May, Todd Konersmann, Jonathan Fox, Aditya Kudumala, Anne Phelps, Hanno Ronte, and Brian Covino (all Deloitte), and John Neal (Eli Lilly), Arun Krishnan (AstraZenca), Roberto Silveira (Pfizer), Keith Boettiger (Abbott), and Greg Hersch (Merck).

Learn more

Interested in learning more about **evolving portfolios and value creation** and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Optimizing the gene therapy business model
- Challenges in the Emerging Cell Therapy Industry

Interested in learning more about **R&D** and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Measuring the return from pharmaceutical innovation 2022
- What is the Future of Virtual Clinical Trials?

Interested in learning more about the supply chain and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Intelligent drug supply chain—Creating value from AI
- Next generation supply chains are integrated into healthcare and the patient experience
- Agile supply chains

Interested in learning more about **pricing and reimbursement** and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Pharma market access and launch strategies
- Inflation's impact on health care

Interested in learning more about **patient centricity** and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Tapping virtual health's potential
- Aligning on value-based care
- Transforming physician workflows
- Evolving team-based health care

Interested in learning more about **digital transformation** and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Digital Transformation in Life Sciences
- 2022 Life Sciences Technology Trends
- Digital transformation value

Interested in learning more about **elevating health equity** and its impact on global life sciences? Check out these Deloitte publications:

- Advancing health equity through community-based ecosystems
- Mental health equity and creating an accessible system
- Increasing clinical trial diversity

Endnotes

Overview & Outlook

1. https://www.statista.com/statistics/263102/pharmaceutical-marketworldwide-revenue-since-2001/#:~:text=For%202022%2C%20 the%20total%20global,at%201.42%20trillion%20U.S.%20dollars.

Evolving portfolios and value creation

- Kyle LaHucik, "Big Pharma is rich. So much so, their coffers could buy more than 600 biotechs," Endpoints, May 6, 2022, https://endpts. com/big-pharma-is-rich-so-much-so-their-coffers-could-buy-morethan-600-biotechs/
- David Wainer, "Healthcare Deal-Making Set to Surge in 2023," The Wall Street Journal, December 27, 2022, https://www.wsj. com/articles/healthcare-deal-making-set-to-surge-in-2023-11672101417?mod=article_inline
- "M&A Trends in Life Sciences: Deal-making in 2022," Deloitte, 2022, https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/ ls-ma-bi-annual-deal-trends-2023.pdf
- 4. Ibid
- George Budwell, "Biopharma's 5 Biggest M&A Deals of 2022," BioSpace, December 23, 2022, https://www.biospace.com/article/ biopharma-s-5-biggest-m-and-a-deals-of-2022/
- https://www.pfizer.com/news/press-release/press-release-detail/ pfizer-completes-acquisition-biohaven-pharmaceuticals
- David Wainer, "Healthcare Deal-Making Set to Surge in 2023," The Wall Street Journal, December 27, 2022, https://www.wsj. com/articles/healthcare-deal-making-set-to-surge-in-2023-11672101417?mod=article_inline
- "Why pharmaceutical Companies are Prioritising Multi-Indication Drugs?" Marksman Healthcare, 2022, https://marksmanhealthcare. com/pharmaceutical-companies-prioritising-multi-indication-drugs/
- Daniel Tobias Michaeli, Mackenzie Mills, and Panos Kanavos, "Value and Price of Multi-indication Cancer Drugs in the USA, Germany, France, England, Canada, Australia, and Scotland," Applied Health Economics and Policy, July 11, 2022, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC9385843/
- Daniel Tobias Michaeli, Hasan Basri Yagmur, Timur Achmadeev, and Thomas Michaeli, "Valuation and Returns of Drug Development Companies: Lessons for Bioentrepreneurs and Investors," Therapeutic Innovation & Reguilatory Science, January 11, 2022, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8854317/
- Daniel Tobias Michaeli, Hasan Basri Yagmur, Timur Achmadeev, and Thomas Michaeli, "Value drivers of development stage biopharma companies," The European Journal of Health Economics, January 17, 2022, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10198-021-01427-5
- 12. https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/life-sciences/ biopharma-digital-transformation.html
- "Vaccines National Strategic Plan for the United States," US Department of Health and Human Services, 2021, https://www.hhs. gov/sites/default/files/HHS-Vaccines-Report.pdf

- https://www.precedenceresearch.com/biotechnology-market
- https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/industry-reports/medicaldevices-market-100085
- Alice Park, "Flu Season Is Coming. mRNA Flu Shots Aren't Far Behind," Time, September 14, 2022, https://time.com/6213110/mrna-flushot-2022/
- Nick Paul Taylor, "Sanofi commits US\$476M a year to mRNA vaccine center in race to expand," Fierce Biotech, June 29, 2021, https://www. fiercebiotech.com/biotech/sanofi-commits-476m-a-year-to-mrnavaccine-center-race-to-expand-tech-beyond-covid-19
- Allison Gatlin, "Pfizer Makes Foray Into CRISPR, Inking US\$1.35 Billion Deal With Beam Therapeutics," Investor's Business Daily, January 10, 2022, https://www.investors.com/news/technology/beam-stocknew-crispr-player-snags-pfizer-deal/
- Emily Sydow, Abu Salim Mustafa, Asma Hanif, Javed Tunio, and Shumaila Nida Muhammad Hanif, "Recent Updates on mRNA Vaccines," MDPI, July 29, 2022, https://www.mdpi.com/2076-393X/10/8/1209/pdf
- Amy Maxmen, "The radical plan for vaccine equity," Nature, July 13, 2022, https://www.nature.com/immersive/d41586-022-01898-3/ index.html
- Paul Verdin and Tsz Mon Tsang, "Next-generation therapeutics thrust into the spotlight," Nature, September 1, 2021, https://www.nature. com/articles/d43747-021-00105-y
- Rich Haridy, "World-first topical gene therapy gel heals decades-old wounds," New Atlas, December 18, 2022, https://newatlas.com/ health-wellbeing/topical-gene-therapy-gel-heals-wounds-phase3trial/
- 21. Matej Mikulic, "Global regenerative medicines market by therapy type in 2016 and a forecast for 2020 and 2025," Statista, Apr 20, 2022 https://www.statista.com/statistics/871252/regenerative-medicinesmarket-value-worldwide-by-therapy-type/
- 22. "Bristol-Myers Squibb Receives European Commission Approval for Abecma (Idecabtagene Vicleucel), the First Anti-BCMA CAR T Cell Therapy for Relapsed and Refractory Multiple Myeloma," Bristol Myers Squibb, August 19, 2021, https://news.bms.com/news/ details/2021/Bristol-Myers-Squibb-Receives-European-Commission-Approval-for-Abecma-Idecabtagene-Vicleucel-the-First-Anti-BCMA-CAR-T-Cell-Therapy-for-Relapsed-and-Refractory-Multiple-Myeloma/ default.aspx
- 23. Gareth McDonald, "Cell and gene sector still facing capacity crunch, say experts," BioProcess International, December 6, 2022, https:// bioprocessintl.com/bioprocess-insider/therapeutic-class/cell-andgene-sector-still-facing-capacity-crunch-say-experts/
- 24. Kevin Dunleavy, "With US\$71M investment, French CDMO Yposkesi set to double capacity and become a viral vector force," Fierce Pharma, June 15, 2021, https://www.fiercepharma.com/ manufacturing/71m-investment-french-cdmo-yposkesi-set-todouble-capacity-and-become-major-viral

- Matthew Herper, "Merck to spin off new US\$6.5 billion firm focused on women's health, older drugs," Stat, February 5, 2020, https://www. statnews.com/2020/02/05/merck-to-spin-off-new-6-5-billion-firmfocused-on-womens-health-older-drugs/
- https://www.novartis.com/news/media-releases/novartisannounces-intention-separate-sandoz-business-create-standalonecompany-way-100-spin
- 27. Cheryl Barton, "Spin-outs and demergers—generating shareholder value?" The Pharma Letter, September 19, 2022, https://www. thepharmaletter.com/article/spin-outs-and-demergers-generating-shareholder-value

R&D

- 1. Deloitte Life Sciences Sector Outlook
- "Seizing the digital momentum," Deloitte Center for Health Solutions, January 2023, https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/ uk/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/deloitte-uk-seize-digitalmomentum-rd-roi-2022.pdf.
- 'Examples of Real-World Evidence (RWE) Used in Medical Device Regulatory Decisions," U.S. Food & Drug Administration, https://www. fda.gov/media/146258/download
- Jeff Morgan, Karla Feghali, Christine Chang, and Wendell Miranda, "Real-world evidence's evolution into a true end-to-end capability," Deloitte Insights, September 21, 2022, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/ en/insights/industry/health-care/real-world-evidence-study.html
- 5. US Food & Drug Administration, "Data standards for drug and biological product submissions containing real-world data," October 2021; US Food & Drug Administration, "Real-world data: Assessing electronic health records and medical claims data to support regulatory decision-making for drug and biological products," September 2021; US Food & Drug Administration, "Real-world data: Assessing registries to support regulatory decision-making for drug and biological products guidance for industry," November 2021.
- John Concato, "FDA issues draft guidances on real-world evidence, prepares to publish more in future," US Food & Drug Administration, January 31, 2022.
- "Flatiron health real-world data support FDA approval of new dosing regimen for ERBITUX® (cetuximab)," Business Wire, July 20, 2021, https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20210720005875/en/ Flatiron-Health-Real-World-Data-Support-FDA...
- European Medicines Agency, "A vision for use of real-world evidence in EU medicines regulation," November 24, 2021; National Medical Products Administration, "NMPA issued the announcement on the guidelines for real-world evidence to support drug development and review (Interim)," January 7, 2020.
- "Life sciences services trends and outlook: Fall 2022," RSM, September 14, 2022, https://rsmus.com/insights/industries/lifesciences/clinical-trials-trends.html
- 10. Ibid.
- "CEO interview: Transforming the clinical trial landscape and leveraging healthcare intelligence," panel, Global Pharma and Biotech Summit, FT Live, November 7, 2022.
- 12. Curebase, https://www.curebase.com/
- Juliet Martin, "Why Asia-Pacific is the next frontier for decentralised clinical trials," Clinical Trials Arena, January 5, 2002, https://www. clinicaltrialsarena.com/sponsored/apac-decentralized-clinical-trials/
- "Drug safety and wearables," Deloitte, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/ en/pages/life-sciences-and-health-care/articles/impact-of-wearabletechnology-in-pharmacovigilance.html

- 28. "Danaher Spin-Off: What to do with the new EAS Shares," Seeking Alpha, September 15, 2022, https://seekingalpha.com/ article/4541262-danaher-spin-off-new-eas-shares
- George Budwell, "Biopharma's 5 Biggest M&A Deals of 2022," BioSpace, December 23, 2022, https://www.biospace.com/article/ biopharma-s-5-biggest-m-and-a-deals-of-2022/

- 15. "Go Beyond Binary Readout in Drug Development," Ariana Pharma, https://www.arianapharma.com/
- "Biosimulation Market to Witness Massive Growth by 2029 | Accelrys, Certara, Simulation Plus," Digital Journal, November 7, 2022, https://www.digitaljournal.com/pr/biosimulation-market-to-witnessmassive-growth-by-2029-accelrys-certara-simulation-plus
- "Biosimulation Global Market Report 2022-2026: Key Players Certara, Dassault, Schrodinger & Others Driving 13.9% Growth," Yahoo Finance, August 25, 2022, https://finance.yahoo.com/news/ biosimulation-global-market-report-2022-093300961.html
- Dawn Anderson, "Retail clinics may be the next frontier for clinical trials," Deloitte Health Forward Blog, March 22, 2022, https://www2. deloitte.com/us/en/blog/health-care-blog/2022/retail-clinics-maybe-the-next-frontier-for-clinical-trials.html
- 'Kroger Health Establishes Clinical Trial Site Network to Increase Reach and Access to Research Studies," Kroger press release, January 24, 2023, https://ir.kroger.com/CorporateProfile/press-release/ press-release/2023/Kroger-Health-Establishes-Clinical-Trial-Site-Network-to-Increase-Reach-and-Access-to-Research-Studies/ default.aspx.
- Karen Taylor, Francesca Properzi, and Maria Joao Cruz, "Intelligent clinical trials: Transforming through AI-enabled engagement," Deloitte Insights, February 10, 2020, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/ en/insights/industry/life-sciences/artificial-intelligence-in-clinicaltrials.html
- Francesca Properzi, Karen Taylor, Mark Steedman, Hanno Ronte, John Haughey, "Intelligent drug discovery: Powered by AI," November 7, 2019, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/lifesciences/artificial-intelligence-biopharma-intelligent-drug-discovery. html
- 22. "Fastest Time to Insights at Life Sciences Scale," WhizAI, https://www. whiz.ai/
- Jamie Smyth, "Biotech begins human trials with drug discovered using AI," Financial Times, October 30, 2022, https://www.ft.com/ content/0006ae3f-7064-4aa6-98cd-8912f544acc5?s
- "CEO interview: Transforming the clinical trial landscape and leveraging healthcare intelligence," panel, Global Pharma and Biotech Summit, FT Live, November 7, 2022.
- 25. Francesca Properzi, Karen Taylor, Mark Steedman, Hanno Ronte, John Haughey, "Intelligent drug discovery: Powered by AI," November 7, 2019, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/lifesciences/artificial-intelligence-biopharma-intelligent-drug-discovery. html
- Oliver Steck, "Regs and R&D: How COVID changed life sciences," Deloitte Health Forward Blog, March 17, 2022 https://www2.deloitte. com/us/en/blog/health-care-blog/2022/regs-and-r-and-d-howcovid-changed-life-sciences.html

- "Deciding on the right path: How biotechs should expand in(to) Europe," Deloitte Insights, January 25, 2022, https://www.deloitte. com/global/en/our-thinking/insights/industry/life-sciences/ expanding-into-european-biotech-industry.html
- Oliver Steck, "Regs and R&D: How COVID changed life sciences," Deloitte Health Forward Blog, March 17, 2022 https://www2.deloitte. com/us/en/blog/health-care-blog/2022/regs-and-r-and-d-howcovid-changed-life-sciences.html
- Karen Cooper, "NHS Foundation Trust signs collaboration agreement with Automata to automate laboratories," Automata press release, July 27, 2022, https://automata.tech/press-release/nhs-foundationtrust-signs-collaboration-agreement-with-automata-to-automatelaboratories/
- Carrie Arnold, "Cloud labs: where robots do the research," Nature, June 13, 2022, https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-022-01618-x
- **Supply Chain**
- "Future-proofing manufacturing and supply chains," 2022, https:// www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/Life-Sciences-Health-Care/gx-lshc-dei-supply-chain.pdf
- "Supplier and service provider risk management: Addressing food safety risks along the supply chain," 2017, https://www2.deloitte.com/ content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/risk/us-food-safety-supplychain-risk.pdf
- "Using smart sensors to drive supply chain innovation," Deloitte, 2018, https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/ Documents/process-and-operations/us-cons-smart-sensors.pdf
- 4. https://www.sanofi.com/en/media-room/press-releas es/2022/2022-06-08-09-21-33-2458434
- 5. Deloitte interview with Roberto Silveira, Pfizer, December 19,2022.
- "How Amgen Tackles the Supply Chain Challenges with Technology," LogiPharma, https://logipharmaus.wbresearch.com/blog/amgentechnology-strategy-to-tackle-supply-chain-challenges-of-biosimilars
- Five ways digital technologies boost clinical supply chain performance," Deloitte, 2019, https://www2.deloitte.com/content/ dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/us-clinicalsupply.pdf
- Aaron Parrott, Brian Umbenhauer, and Lane Warshaw, "Digital twins: Bridging the physical and digital," Deloitte Insights, January 15, 2020, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/tech-trends/2020/ digital-twin-applications-bridging-the-physical-and-digital.html
- "The future unmasked: Predicting the future of healthcare and life sciences in 2025," Deloitte, 2020, https://www2.deloitte.com/ content/dam/Deloitte/be/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/ DeloitteBelgium_%20LSHC-Prediction-7.pdf, 5.
- "Using technology to boost clinical supply chain performance," Deloitte, 2020, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/life-sciencesand-health-care/articles/five-ways-digital-is-transforming-clinicalsupply-chain.html
- "Manufacturing: Current and planned investments in digital technologies," Deloitte Insights, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/ content/dam/insights/articles/us-164996-chs-ife-sciences-digitalinnovation/figures/US164996_Figure10.jpg
- 12. Tom Coleman, Jeff Petry, Paul Kreder, and Jessica Franck, "Key determinants for resilient health care supply chains," Deloitte Insights, April 25, 2022, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/

- "Nurturing growth: Measuring the return from pharmaceutical innovation in 2021," Deloitte Centre for Health Solutions, January 2022, https://www.deloitte.com/content/dam/assets-shared/docs/ pdf/analysis/2022/gx-measuring-the-return-of-pharmaceuticalinnovation-2021-deloitte%20(1).pdf
- "Partnerships: Driving innovation through collaboration," panel, Global Pharma and Biotech Summit, FT Live, November 7, 2022.
- 33. "Nurturing growth: Measuring the return from pharmaceutical innovation in 2021," Deloitte Centre for Health Solutions, January 2022, https://www.deloitte.com/content/dam/assets-shared/docs/ pdf/analysis/2022/gx-measuring-the-return-of-pharmaceuticalinnovation-2021-deloitte%20(1).pdf
- 34. Ken Burows, Cameron McClearn, Leena Gupta, Debanshu Mukherjee, "Breaking barriers to digitization in biopharma," Deloitte Insights, January 28, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/ industry/life-sciences/biopharma-strategy-after-covid.html

industry/health-care/healthcare-supply-chain.html

- "DHL research brief: The supply chain talent shortage: from gap to crisis," DHL, http://dhl.lookbookhq.com/ao_thought-leadership_ talent-gap
- Juliette Roswell, Why up to eight in 10 supply chain workers plan to quit," Supply Management, May 20, 2022, https://www.cips.org/ supply-management/news/2022/may/why-up-to-eight-in-10-supplychain-workers-plan-to-quit/
- 15. Deloitte interview with John Neal, Eli Lilly, Dec 12, 2022.
- 16. "Pharmaceutical Drug Delivery Market 2023 : Advance Technology, Latest Trend and Future Expansion by 2028," MarketWatch, November 22, 2022, https://www.marketwatch.com/press-release/ pharmaceutical-drug-delivery-market-2023-advance-technologylatest-trend-and-future-expansion-by-2028-2022-11-22
- 17. https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/scope-3-inventory-guidance
- 18. https://news.mit.edu/2010/corporate-greenhouse-gas-1108
- Peter Dizikes, "The 6-percent solution: How corporations can reduce greenhouse-gas emissions through better planning," MIT News, November 8, 2010, https://industry4climate.eu/sector/healthcarepharma/
- 20. https://industry4climate.eu/sector/healthcare-pharma/
- "AstraZeneca Position Paper: Water Stewardship," AstraZeneca, February 2022, https://www.astrazeneca.com/content/dam/az/PDF/ Sustainability/AZ_Water_Stewardship_position_statement.pdf
- 22. "AstraZeneca's Sustainability Partner Guide and Framework," AstraZeneca, https://www.astrazeneca.com/content/dam/az/ PDF/Sustainability/2019/Sustainability%20Toolkit%20and%20 Framework_A4_Digital_191218.pdf
- 23. Deloitte interview with Arun Krishnan, AstraZeneca, January 4, 2023.
- 24. Elizabeth Baca, Neal Batra, Michael Joseph Johnson, and Jay Sekhon, "Why climate resilience is key to building the health care organization of the future," Deloitte Insights, April 24, 2022, https://nventic.com/ insights/what-is-inventory-optimization/
- "There's a better way to manage your inventory," KelloggInsight, January 3, 2019, https://nventic.com/insights/pharma-inventorytrends-2021/

- "What is inventory optimization," nVentic, https://www2.deloitte.com/ us/en/insights/industry/public-sector/government-trends/2022/ reshoring-global-supply-chains.html
- 27. "nVentic Big Pharma inventory trends benchmarking report 2021," nVentic, https://www.tracelink.com/knowledge-base/regulatoryupdates/emerging-markets-regulatory-updates
- Melanie Rojas, Adam Routh, Jesse Sherwood, and John Buckley, Reshoring and "friendshoring" supply chains," Deloitte Insights, March 24, 2022, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/ public-sector/government-trends/2022/reshoring-global-supplychains.html

Pricing and Reimbursement

- Georg Müller, Evert Gruyaert, Bhupinder Arora, "Effective Dynamic Pricing Starts With the Customer," CMO Today, April 14, 2020, https:// deloitte.wsj.com/articles/effective-dynamic-pricing-starts-with-thecustomer-01587754927
- Paige Minemyer, "JPM23: Cigna CEO David Cordani says coming biosimilar wave offers 'tremendous' opportunity," Fierce Healthcare, January 11, 2023, https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/payers/jpm23cigna-ceo-cordani-says-coming-biosimilar-wave-offers-tremendousopportunity
- 2022 Financial Times Pharma & Biotech Summit, sponsored by Deloitte.
- Spencer Kimball, "Passage of Inflation Reduction Act gives Medicare historic new powers over drug prices," CNBC, August 12, 2022, https://www.cnbc.com/2022/08/12/drug-prices-passage-of-inflationreduction-act-gives-medicare-historic-new-powers.html
- https://www.retireguide.com/medicare/basics/history/medicaremodernization-act/#:~:text=The%202003%20Medicare%20 Modernization%20Act,low%2Dincome%20and%20wealthy%20 beneficiaries
- Kaustuv Basu, "Drug Price Law to Spur Creative Claims as Industry Readies Fight," Bloomberg Law, September 29, 2022, https://news. bloomberglaw.com/health-law-and-business/drug-price-law-to-spurcreative-claims-as-industry-readies-fight
- Juliette Cubanski, Tricia Neuman, Meredith Freed, and Anthony Damico, "How Will the Prescription Drug Provisions in the Inflation Reduction Act Affect Medicare Beneficiaries?" January 24, 2023, https://www.kff.org/medicare/issue-brief/how-will-the-prescriptiondrug-provisions-in-the-inflation-reduction-act-affect-medicarebeneficiaries
- Spencer Kimball, "Biden administration will select first 10 drugs for Medicare price negotiations by September," CNBC, January 11, 2023, https://www.cnbc.com/2023/01/11/biden-administration-will-selectdrugs-for-medicare-price-negotiations-by-september.html
- Dena Bunis, "10 prescription drugs that cost Medicare the most," AARP, March 8, 2022, https://www.aarp.org/politicssociety/advocacy/info-2022/medicare-prescription-drugcosts.html#:~:text=More%20than%202.6%20million%20 Medicare,%2410%20billion%20to%20the%20program.
- Benita Lee, "What are biologics: 5 examples of biological drugs you may already be taking," GoodRx Health, June 16, 2022, https://www. goodrx.com/healthcare-access/medication-education/biologicsbiological-drugs-examples
- 11. 2022 Financial Times Pharma & Biotech Summit, sponsored by Deloitte.

- 29. Katie Jennings, "Pharma's blockchain trials: Novartis, Merck test the tech popularized by bitcoin," Forbes, February 2, 2021, https:// www.forbes.com/sites/katiejennings/2021/02/02/pharmasblockchain-trials-novartis-merck-test-the-tech-popularized-bybitcoin/?sh=6f295bf47e86
- "Emerging Market Regulatory Update," TraceLink, October 10, 2022, https://www.tracelink.com/knowledge-base/regulatory-updates/ emerging-markets-regulatory-updates

- https://www.naacos.com/press-release--medicare-aco-participationflat-in-2022
- 13. https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2019/ nov/what-can-united-states-learn-drug-spending-controls-france
- 14. https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Chapter-1-Addressing-High-Cost-Specialty-Drugs.pdf
- Molly Gamble, "AstraZeneca CEO expects slower drug rollouts, unclear on vaccine long game," Becker's Hospital Review, August 23, 2023, https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/pharmacy/ astrazeneca-ceo-expects-slower-drug-rollouts-unclear-on-vaccinelong-game.html
- Max Gelman, "Updated: Eli Lilly blames Biden's IRA for cancer drug discontinuation as the new pharma playbook takes shape," Endpoints News, November 1, 2022, https://endpts.com/eli-lillyrolls-snake-eyes-as-it-axes-two-early-stage-drugs-including-a-40mcancer-therapy-from-fosun/
- Ludwig Burger and John Revill, "Novartis to prioritise U.S. market, unfazed by drug pricing pushback," Reuters, September 22, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/healthcare-pharmaceuticals/ novartis-unveils-new-strategy-based-eight-multi-billion-dollarbrands-2022-09-22/
- Marco Rauland, "Drug Price Prediction: Where Do Machine Learning and AI Stand?" Pharma Boardroom, August 1, 2022, https:// pharmaboardroom.com/articles/drug-price-prediction-where-domachine-learning-and-ai-stand/
- Joost J. Enzing, Sebastian Himmler, Saskia Knies, and Werner B.F. Brouwer. "Do Profit Margins of Pharmaceuticals Influence Reimbursement Decisions? A Discrete Choice Experiment Among Dutch Healthcare Decision Makers," Value in Health, February 2022, https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S109830152101696X
- 20. Ibid
- https://voisinconsulting.com/resources/glossary/health-technologyassessment-bodies-htabs/
- 22. Salomé Monreal Louly, "EU Adopts Regulation on Pan-European Health Technology Assessment," February 18, 2022, https:// trinitylifesciences.com/blog/eu-adopts-regulation-on-pan-europeanhealth-technology-assessment/
- Carlo Martuscelli, "Everything you wanted to know about the EU's pharma reform (but were too afraid to ask)," Politico, January 16, 2023, https://www.politico.eu/article/european-union-pharmadrugs-everything-you-wanted-to-know-about-the-eus-pharmareform-but-were-too-afraid-to-ask/

- 24. Peter J. Neumann and Harry Weissman, "The FDA's New Guidance On Payer Communications: Implications For Real-World Data And Value-Based Contracts," HealthAffairs, July 17, 2018, https://www. healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20180712.816686/full/
- https://www.amgen.com/responsibility/healthy-people/access-tomedicines/our-approach-to-pricing-access-and-affordability/accessapproaches-treatment-and-collaborations/responsible-approach-topricing/pricing
- 26. https://www.astrazeneca.com/content/dam/az/PDF/Sustainability/ Affordability_statement.pdf
- 27. 2022 Financial Times Pharma & Biotech Summit, sponsored by Deloitte.
- Sophie Cairns, "China's latest NRDL update continues to exclude foreign PD-1 inhibitors, favours rare disease drugs," Pharmaceutical Technology, December 20, 2021, https://www.pharmaceuticaltechnology.com/pricing-and-market-access/china-nrdl-foreign-pd1inhibitors/
- 29. Ibid
- "AstraZeneca Sees 60% of China Sales From New Drugs in Five Years," Bloomberg, September 9, 2019, https://www.bloomberg. com/news/articles/2019-09-09/astra-sees-60-of-china-sales-fromnew-drugs-amid-approval-binge#:~:text=AstraZeneca%20Plc%20 expects%20new%20and,opportunities%20for%20the%20global%20 drugmakers

Patient centricity

- 1. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/resources/trends
- 2. https://www.who.int/health-topics/medical-devices#tab=tab_1
- 3. Sarah Johnson, Emily Lee, and Michael Davis, "The Impact of Public Health Interventions on COVID-19 Transmission in the United States," Frontiers in Public Health, December 14, 2022, https://www. frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2022.985582/full
- Catherine Lee and David Kim, "The Effects of Stress on Mental Health," Journal of Mental Health, February 15, 2023, https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9301261/
- https://investors.resmed.com/investor-relations/events-andpresentations/press-releases/press-release-details/2018/Digitalconnected-health-reimbursement-is-a-cost-saving-investment/ default.aspx
- 6. https://investors.bd.com/news-releases/news-release-details/bd-acquires-scanwell-health-inc-expand-and-scale-digital-home
- https://www.daiichisankyo.com/files/news/pressrelease/ pdf/202205/20220523_E1.pdf
- https://www.physiq.com/press-media/physiq-announcescollaboration-with-janssen/
- https://www.daiichisankyo.com/files/news/pressrelease/ pdf/202205/20220523_E1.pdf
- https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/impedimed-extendscontract-for-astrazeneca-for-use-of-the-sozo-digital-healthplatform-in-clinical-trial-of-patients-with-chronic-kidney-disease-301679299.html
- 11. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/resources/ trends#RegisteredStudiesOverTime
- 12. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7909833/
- Virtual Clinical Trials for Rare Diseases," Roche, September 7, 2021, https://www.roche.com/stories/virtual-clinical-trials-rare-disease

- https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/ orphan-drug
- 32. Caroline Pearson and Lindsey Schapiro, "The Next Generation of Rare Disease Drug Policy: Ensuring Both Innovation and Affordability," Institute for Clinical and Economic Review, April 7, 2022, https://icer.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/ICER-White-Paper_ The-Next-Generation-of-Rare-Disease-Drug-Policy_040722.pdf
- 33. https://www.ispor.org/heor-resources/about-heor
- 34. Chris Harvey and Carolyn Zele, "A Game-Changing Shift: Why Pharma Commercial Teams Are Turning to HEOR," Drug Channels, April 29, 2022, https://www.drugchannels.net/2022/04/a-gamechanging-shift-why-pharma.html
- 35. "Medicines for children and rare diseases: Commission launches a public consultation," European Commission, May 10, 2021, https:// health.ec.europa.eu/other-pages/basic-page/medicines-childrenand-rare-diseases-commission-launches-public-consultation_en
- Preeti Patel, "State Price Transparency Reporting: 4 strategies to reduce the risk of non-compliance," Global Pricing Innovations, November 23, 2022, https://globalpricing.com/articles/state-pricetransparency-evolving-policies/
- https://accesstomedicinefoundation.org/medialibrary/2022_accessto-medicine-index-1669982470.pdf
- 38. 2022 Financial Times Pharma & Biotech Summit.
- https://www.threadresearch.com/press-releases/sanofi-selectsthread-as-global-decentralized-clinical-trials-provider
- John Smith and Lisa Chen, "When Digital Tech Becomes a Medical Device," Deloitte, January 20, 2023, https://www2.deloitte.com/nl/ nl/pages/technologie-media-telecom/articles/when-digital-techbecomes-a-medical-device.html
- "Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Mobile Medical Applications," FDA, September 28, 2002, https://www.fda.gov/media/88572/ download
- Zachary Brennan, "Abbvie, Janssen, Novartis, Pfizer, and UCB to Jointly Advance Digital Endpoint for Atopic Dermatitis," Endpoints News, November 2, 2021, https://endpts.com/abbvie-janssennovartis-pfizer-and-ucb-to-jointly-advance-digital-endpoint-foratopic-dermatitis/
- https://www.globenewswire.com/newsrelease/2022/05/05/24366666/0/en/Biogen-and-MedRhythms-to-Develop-and-Commercialize-a-Prescription-Digital-Therapeutic-Targeting-the-Treatment-of-Gait-Deficits-in-Multiple-Sclerosis.html
- Patricia Thompson, "MedRhythms Launches Trial for Rhythmic Sound Walking Aid," Multiple Sclerosis News Today, May 19, 2021, https://multiplesclerosisnewstoday.com/news-posts/2021/05/19/ medrhythms-launches-trial-mr-004-rhythmic-sound-walking-aidmass-general/
- Michelle Lee, "How DNAnexus Enables Human Longevity to Optimize Genomics Analysis and Interpretation for Healthy Individuals," DNAnexus Blog, November 4, 2021, https://blog.dnanexus.com/2021-11-04-how-dnanexus-enables-human-longevity-to-optimizegenomics-analysis-and-interpretation-for-healthy-individuals
- 21. https://www.molecularyou.com/
- Christine Persaud, "The New Science of Aging Puts Healthspan at the Forefront," YouAreUNLTD, February 2, 2022, https://www. youareunltd.com/2022/02/02/the-new-science-of-aging-putshealthspan-at-the-forefront/

23. https://www.endeavorrx.com/the-research/

- 24. Nicky Britten, Emma Sizmur, James Oppegaard, "Developing and Evaluating Digital Interventions to Promote Behavior Change in Health and Health Care: Recommendations Resulting From an International Workshop," JMIR mHealth and uHealth, April 25, 2017, https://mhealth.jmir.org/2017/4/e56/
- https://peartherapeutics.com/pear-therapeutics-presents-realworld-data-showing-reduction-in-healthcare-resource-utilizationand-associated-costs-in-adults-using-somryst-at-ispor-europe/

Digital transformation

- Mike Standing and Greg Reh, "Survey finds biopharma companies lag in digital transformation," Deloitte Insights, https://www2.deloitte. com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/4797_CHS-MIT-survey/ DI_CHS-MIT-survey.pdf
- Aditya Kudumala, Wendell Miranda, Todd Konersmann, and Adam Israel, "Biopharam digital transformation: Gain an edge with leapfrog digital innovation," Deloitte Insights, December 8, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/life-sciences/ biopharma-digital-transformation.html
- 3. "Values-Driven Leadership: A Conversation with Alex Gorsky," What's The Deal? Podcast, J.P. Morgan, https://link.chtbl.com/QnWUA0a3
- 4. Deloitte interview with Greg Hersch, Merck, January 30, 2023
- 5. Ibid
- 6. Gartner Essential Frameworks—Life Sciences, Gartner, https://www. gartner.com/document/4015291?ref=solrAll&refval=339427246
- "Global Life Sciences Software market is valued at US\$11 billion in 2020 and is expected to grow at a CAGR of 11% to reach US\$18 billion by 2025," Medi-Tech Insights, March 14, 2022, https://www. globenewswire.com/en/news-release/2022/03/14/2402663/0/en/ Global-Life-Sciences-Software-market-is-valued-at-11-billion-in-2020-and-is-expected-to-grow-at-a-CAGR-of-11-to-reach-18-billionby-2025.html
- 8. Ibid.
- "Giving health care providers a digital edge," Deloitte, https://www2. deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/us-giving-healthcare-providers-a-digital-edge.pdf
- 10. https://www.zenithtechnologies.com/life-sciences/
- 11. https://www.rockwellautomation.com/en-us.html
- 12. "Giving health care providers a digital edge," Deloitte, https://www2. deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/us-giving-healthcare-providers-a-digital-edge.pdf
- 13. https://www.servicenow.com/products/healthcare-life-sciences.html

Elevating Health Equity

- Ani Turner, "The Business Case for Racial Equity," W.K. Kellogg Foundation, 2018, https://altarum.org/sites/default/files/uploadedpublication-files/WKKellogg_Business-Case-Racial-Equity_National-Report_2018.pdf
- 2. Ibid.
- Uma Kelekar and Shillpa Naavaal, "Hours Lost to Planned and Unplanned Dental Visits Among US Adults," Preventing Chronic Disease, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, January 11, 2018, https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2018/17_0225.htm

- 26. https://www.optum.com/business/life-sciences/real-world-data.html
- 27. Heidi Godman, "Are you taking an active role in your health care," US News & World Report, April 13, 2018, https://health.usnews.com/ health-care/patient-advice/articles/2018-04-13/are-you-taking-anactive-role-in-your-health-care
- "Digitalising Health Data," Deloitte, https://www2.deloitte.com/ch/en/ pages/life-sciences-and-healthcare/articles/digitalising-health-datagreat-opportunities-amid-widespread-scepticism.html
- "Digital Therapeutics: Improving patient outcomes through convergence," Deloitte Perspectives, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/ en/pages/life-sciences-and-health-care/articles/digital-therapeutics. html
- "CISA, FBI, and Treasury release advisory on North Korean statesponsored cyber actors use of Maui Ransomware," Cybersecurity & Infrastructure Security Agency, Alert, July 6, 2022, https://www.cisa. gov/news/2022/07/06/cisa-fbi-and-treasury-release-advisory-northkorean-state-sponsored-cyber-actors
- John Lu, "As life sciences goes digital, new cyber threats emerge," Deloitte Health Forward Blog, August 16, 2022, https://www2. deloitte.com/us/en/blog/health-care-blog/2022/as-life-sciencesgoes-digital-new-cyber-threats-emerge.html
- Greg Reh, Hanno Ronte, Leena Gupta, and Hemnabh Varia, "Overcoming biopharma's trust deficit," Deloitte Insights, May 6, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/lifesciences/trust-in-biopharmaceutical-companies-covid.html
- 18. Deloitte interview with Greg Hersch, Merck, January 30, 2023.
- "Values-Driven Leadership: A Conversation with Alex Gorsky," What's The Deal? Podcast, J.P. Morgan, https://link.chtbl.com/QnWUA0a3
- 20. Aditya Kudumala, Wendell Miranda, Todd Konersmann, and Adam Israel, "Biopharam digital transformation: Gain an edge with leapfrog digital innovation," Deloitte Insights, December 8, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/life-sciences/ biopharma-digital-transformation.html
- Mike Standing and Greg Reh, "Survey finds biopharma companies lag in digital transformation," Deloitte Insights, https://www2.deloitte. com/content/dam/Deloitte/be/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/ DI_CHS-MIT-survey.pdf
- 22. Deloitte interview with Greg Hersch, Merck, January 30, 2023.
- 23. Ibid
- 24. https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/life-sciences-and-healthcare/articles/digital-transformation-in-life-sciences.html
- Dong-Wook Lee, Jongin Lee, Hyoung-Ryoul Kim, and Mo-Yeol Kang, "Health-Related Porductivity Loss According to Health Conditions among Workers in South Korea," International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, July 16, 2021, doi: 10.3390/ijerph18147589.
- "Tackling Childcare: The Business Case for Employer-Supported Childcare," International Finance Corporation, 2017, https:// www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/cd79e230-3ee2-46ae-adc5e54d3d649f31/01817+WB+Childcare+Report_FinalWeb3. pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=IXu9vP-

- Elizabeth Pratt, "We Don't Have Enough Women in Clinical Trials— Why That's a Problem," Healthline, October 25, 2020, https://www. healthline.com/health-news/we-dont-have-enough-women-inclinical-trials-why-thats-a-problem
- "History of Women's Participation in Clinical Research," National Institutes of Health, https://orwh.od.nih.gov/toolkit/recruitment/ history
- Molly Walker, "Descovy Promising as PrEP in MSM, but May Have a Woman Problem," MedPage Today, August 6, 2019, https://www. medpagetoday.com/infectiousdisease/hivaids/81460
- 9. "Facts and Figures: HIV and AIDS," UN Women, https://www. unwomen.org/en/what-we-do/hiv-and-aids/facts-and-figures
- Descovy for PrEP," Antimicrobial Drugs Advisory Committee Meeting, US Food and Drug Administration, August , 2019, https://www.fda. gov/media/129923/download.
- Ryan Rudominer, "Corporate Social Responsibility Matters: Ignore Millennials at Your Peril." Center for Social Impact Communication, Georgetown University, https://csic.georgetown.edu/magazine/ corporate-social-responsibility-matters-ignore-millennials-peril/.
- "2020 Global Marketing Trends," Deloitte Insights, https://www2. deloitte.com/content/dam/insights/us/articles/2020-globalmarketing-trends/DI_2020%20Global%20Marketing%20Trends.pdf
- Sara Zellner and Lawrence Bowdish, "The ROI of Health and Well-Being: Business Investment in Healthier Communities," National Academy of Science, November 6, 2017, https://nam.edu/roi-healthwell-business-investment-healthier-communities/.
- "Settlement reached with Purdue Pharma (Canada) for opoid damages," press release, British Columbia Attorney General's Office, June 29, 2022, https://news.gov.bc.ca/releases/2022AG0044-001031
- David Fredrickson, "Approaching health equity from all angles," World Economic Forum, May 25, 2022, https://www.weforum.org/ agenda/2022/05/approaching-health-equity-from-all-angles/
- "Global Health Equity Network Zero Health Gaps Pledge," World Economic Forum, January 2023, https://www3.weforum.org/docs/ WEF_Zero_Health_Gaps_Pledge_2023.pdf
- Fresenius Medical Care takes action to close global health gaps, signs "Zero Health Gaps" Pledge at the World Economic Forum" press release, Fresenius Medical Care, January 20 2023, https:// www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/fresenius-medical-care-takesaction-to-close-global-health-gaps-signs-zero-health-gaps-pledgeat-the-world-economic-forum-301726358.html
- Drew Wilkins, "The business case for health equity in life sciences," Deloitte Health Forward Blog, September 22, 2022, https://www2. deloitte.com/us/en/blog/health-care-blog/2022/the-business-casefor-health-equity-in-life-sciences.html
- Asif Dhar, Jay Bhatt, Neal Batra, and Brian Rush, "US health care can't afford health inequities," Deloitte Insights, June 22, 2022, https:// www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/health-care/economiccost-of-health-disparities.html
- Johan P Mackenbach, Willem J Meerding, and Anton E Kunst, "Economic costs of health inequalities in the European Union," Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, Vol. 65, 5, https://jech. bmj.com/content/65/5/412
- "Data & Statistics on Sickle Cell Disease," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/sicklecell/data.html

- 22. WGBH Educational Foundation and Clear Blue Sky Productions, "A mutation story," video, 2001.
- 23. Darryl Sleep, "Amgen Stands With PhRMA to Increase Diversity in Clinical Trials," Amgen press release, April 14, 2021, https://www.amgen.com/stories/2021/04/amgen-stands-with-phrma-to-increase-diversity-in-clinical-trials
- George A. Alexander, Kenneth C. Chu, and Reginald C.S. Ho, "Representation of Asian Americans in Clinical Cancer Trials," Annals of Epidemiology November 2000, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1047-2797(00)00198-8
- Natalie Healey, "Unequal access: understanding cancer treatment disparity in Europe," Pharmaceutical Technology, December 7, 2020, https://www.pharmaceutical-technology.com/analysis/unequalaccess-understanding-cancer-treatment-disparity-in-europe/
- "Life sciences services trends and outlook: Fall 2022," RSM, September 14, 2022, https://rsmus.com/insights/industries/lifesciences/clinical-trials-trends.html
- Alexandria Younossi, Wendy Sanhai, Sonal Shah, and Christine Chang, "Enhancing clinical trial diversity," Deloitte Insights, November 11, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/lifesciences/lack-of-diversity-clinical-trials.html
- 28. Ibid.
- "Bristol Myers Squibb Launches Disability Diversity in Clinical Trials (DDiCT) Initiative to Improve Healthcare Outcomes for People with Disabilities," BusinessWire, July 20, 2022, https://www.businesswire. com/news/home/20220720005158/en/Bristol-Myers-Squibb-Launches-Disability-Diversity-in-Clinical-Trials-DDiCT-Initiative-to-Improve-Healthcare-Outcomes-for-People-with-Disabilities
- 30. Catherine Y. Spong and Diana W. Bianchi, "Improving Public Health Requires Inclusion of Underrepresented Populations in Research," Journal of the American Medical Association, January 23-30, 2018, https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/2667821?re direct=true&appld=scweb
- "Bristol Myers Squibb Launches Disability Diversity in Clinical Trials (DDiCT) Initiative to Improve Healthcare Outcomes for People with Disabilities," BusinessWire, July 20, 2022, https://www.businesswire. com/news/home/20220720005158/en/Bristol-Myers-Squibb-Launches-Disability-Diversity-in-Clinical-Trials-DDiCT-Initiative-to-Improve-Healthcare-Outcomes-for-People-with-Disabilities
- "Novartis commits US\$17.7M to support equity in clinical trials," HealthCare Africa, July 6, 2022, https://www.healthcareafrica.info/ novartis-commits-us17-7m-to-support-equity-in-clinical-trials/
- Alexandria Younossi, Wendy Sanhai, Sonal Shah, and Christine Chang, "Enhancing clinical trial diversity," Deloitte Insights, November 11, 2021, https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/lifesciences/lack-of-diversity-clinical-trials.html
- 34. Ibid.
- Leslie Read, Leslie Korenda, and Heather Nelson, "Rebuilding trust in health care," Deloitte Insights, August 5, 2021, https://www2.deloitte. com/xe/en/insights/industry/health-care/trust-in-health-caresystem.html



About Deloitte's Life Sciences Practices

Across life sciences you'll find innovators who are developing therapies, treatments, devices, and cures to meet society's most pressing health challenges and deliver wellness for all. Alongside them, you'll find our leaders, the professionals of Deloitte's Life Sciences practices, who are orchestrating and delivering the business of science and health. We help drive impact through deep industry experience and insights, transformative strategies, trusted, flexible approaches, and new technologies. We help accelerate action and create connections that empower a digitally enabled, equitable future of health.

About this publication

This communication contains general information only, and none of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), its global network of member firms or their related entities (collectively, the "Deloitte organization") is, by means of this communication, rendering professional advice or services. Before making any decision or taking any action that may affect your finances or your business, you should consult a qualified professional adviser.

No representations, warranties or undertakings (express or implied) are given as to the accuracy or completeness of the information in the communication, and none of DTTL, its member firms, related entities, employees or agents shall be liable or responsible for any loss or damage whatsover arising directly or indirectly in connection with any person relying on this communication. DTTL and each of its member firms, and their related entities, are legally separate and independent entities.

About Deloitte

Deloitte refers to one or more of the Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), its global network of member firms, and their related entities (collectively, the "Deloitte organization"). DTTL (also referred to as "Deloitte Global") and each of its member firms and related entities are legally separate and independent entities, which cannot obligate or bind each other in respects of third parties. DTTL and each DTTL member firm and related entity is liable only for its own acts and omission, and not those of each other. DTTL does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about to learn more.